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Monday, April 3, 2023
--- Upon commencing at 9:30 a.m.

MS. DUFF:  Good morning, everyone.

My name is Allison Duff, and today is day two of the oral hearing for Elexicon's application, EBO-2022-0024.

The hearing advisor has distributed a schedule for today which puts us back in good form that we finish at 4:55.

Thank you to those who have offered up the time in order to accommodate the two-day schedule.

Prior to proceeding with Mr. Ladanyi and his cross-examination of the Elexicon panel, were there any preliminary matters, Mr. Vellone, that you wanted to raise?

MR. VELLONE:  None from the perspective of the Applicant, Commissioner.

MS. DUFF:  And -- okay.  Great.

The Panel did have one matter that it wanted to raise.

After reviewing the transcript -- this is regarding the undertaking request by OEB Staff that was -- did not -- was rejected by Elexicon due to relevance.  Anyhow, the Board will order the model to be produced.

After reviewing the transcript, the Panel finds that in -- at page 87, where they were quoting correspondence between the developer and Elexicon, that the [audio dropout] --


[Reporter appeals.]

MS. DUFF:  Correspondence between the developer and Elexicon identified that this model had been used for consideration.

So with any ICM application the OEB has to apply its three criteria, and one is prudence and considering the options that were considered that informed the application.

So to the extent that no one knows what's in this model, but to the extent that this model informs the application and the path chosen by Elexicon in its proposal, the OEB would find it useful.

Now, that being said, Mr. Vellone, I also considered your comments regarding, it's years out of date and it's full of errors.

So I invite you to add any commentary regarding the usefulness and the accuracy of this model in filing it and any confidentiality requests that you would like the OEB to consider.

MR. VETSIS:  Ms. Djurdjevic, should we get that marked as an undertaking for today?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes.  So that will be our first undertaking today.  That will be J2.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.1:  TO ADD ANY COMMENTARY REGARDING THE USEFULNESS AND ACCURACY OF THE MODEL AND TO PROVIDE ANY CONFIDENTIALITY REQUESTS FOR THE OEB TO CONSIDER.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Thank you.

If there are no other preliminary matters, Mr. Ladanyi, do you want to proceed with your cross-examination.

ELEXICON ENERGY INC. - PANEL 2, resumed
Mr. Vetsis,
Ms. Chan,
Mr. Boudhar,
Ms. Eleosida,
Mr. Thompson,
Mr. Martin-Sturmey,
Mr. Mandyam; Previously Affirmed.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Ladanyi:

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.

Good morning, Commissioners, witness panel, court reporter, counsel, and interested parties.  My name is Tom Ladanyi.  I'm a consultant representing the Coalition of Concerned Manufacturers and Businesses of Canada.

And the length of my cross-examination was originally estimated to be 90 minutes, and I've reduced it to 60 minutes, and I hope that it will actually take even less time.

So, first, let's turn to Exhibit KT1.1, which is Appendix B of the Distribution System Code.  Can we have that on the screen, please.

Thank you.  Can we go to page 4.

MR. OTT:  Just a moment for me to get KT1.1 up for you, Mr. Ladanyi.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  Thank you.  So the matter that we've been discussing is, of course, the footnote.

So on page 4 -- and you can see it there, I hope -- the page lists specific parameters of the common elements.  The first one is listed under item (a), and it says:
"A maximum connection horizon of five years calculated from the energization date of the facilities."

And there is a footnote at the end of that sentence, and it refers to footnote 1, which is at the bottom of the page, and I see it's been highlighted in yellow on the screen:
"For customer connection periods of greater than five years, an explanation of the extension period will be provided to the Board."

Do you agree with me that the Distribution System Code clearly allows for connection periods greater than five years?

MR. VETSIS:  We do not agree with that statement.

If I could take you to the updated evidence that we provided on March 27th.  And we can scroll down.

We can agree that the footnote indicates that the utility should let the OEB know if it wants such a request, but I think further clarity is required in terms of the specific approvals.

As we talk a little bit here, you know, the specific language in the DSC does not say five years or any other period as deemed appropriate by the LDC.  The language is very specific in noting five years.

If we could scroll down a little bit further, you know, we talk here about the concern that -- really, the concern from our end is the balance between the utilities obligation to provide nondiscretionary access to the system as per section 2.1 of the DSC, as well as section 26 of the Electricity Act, and so fully unfettered discretion without more clarity in terms of the limits as to how to implement that, in our view, would open the utility up to significant risk, and from our perspective it's not clear that the utility fully has that discretion and that further guidance is required.

MR. LADANYI:  I understand these are your concerns and that's your opinion, but Appendix B plainly states that longer periods than five years can be accepted.  Doesn't it say that?  I mean, it clearly says -- I know you've got some concerns, and I see that in your submission, but it clearly does allow for that, doesn't it?

MR. VETSIS:  Again, what it allows for, it says that an explanation must be provided.

What it does not provide there is the specific process or whether approval is noted.

If we go a little bit up in the evidence, that -- the letter that we've provided here, we would node note that the OEB Staff guidance issued in 2022 actually contradicts guidance provided by OEB Staff just two years earlier.

And if we note that, the third paragraph here, Elexicon notes that the staff letter contradicts previous guidance issued by OEB Staff on exactly the same issue.  As recently as December 18th, 2020, OEB Staff issued guidance which indicated that deviation from the five years would therefore require an amendment to the DSC or an exemption from the relevant provisions through either a public consultation or a hearing process as applicable.

And so if we accept that requirement, then, you know, I think all this footnote here would indicate is that there's an opportunity to extend the horizon; however, it does not fully grant the utility complete and total discretion to do so.

MR. LADANYI:  Is your position then that the letter from December 18th, 2020 from a member of Board Staff, which is an opinion letter, prevents you from applying for longer periods?

MR. VETSIS:  Our position -- and again, we see this sentence down there, "given the potential consequences of not complying with an enforceable provision, which could be fines of up to $1 million a day", I think from Elexicon's perspective, given the differing guidance that we've seen, we lack the level of certainty required to know exactly what process or approvals are necessary, and so, as we noted in this letter, that is something that we would welcome further guidance on from the OEB.  However, we do see from a broader perspective full, unfettered discretionary access for periods as long as sort of were implied in panel question 4, the 10, 15, 20 years, those kinds of extensions would be fully unprecedented and could lead to complications that should be carefully considered.

MR. LADANYI:  So if Commissioners in this proceeding were to give you their interpretation of Appendix B, footnote 1, that would certainly trump any previous opinions issued by Board Staff, would it not?

MR. VETSIS:  Could we go to JT 1.6, please.  Obviously, Elexicon is a regulated entity and would be bound by any decisions of the Board, but there are a few items that I'd like to mention specifically here.

If we take a look at the bottom of the second paragraph on this page, we note that the extension of the connection horizon beyond five years introduces significant complexities when it comes to managing the process of capital contributions from unforecasted customers on the line.  That becomes extremely challenging over time.  Like we say later on, over the period of 15 to 20 years, you know, such a process would be onerous, administratively complex, and substantively increases the chances for error.  So, from our perspective, it's not supported as a reasonable alternative; and for other reasons, as well.

I would note -- if we could go to panel question number 4.  In panel question number 4, we were asked to provide multiple DCF model scenarios.  If you could scroll down to the tables.  We were asked to provide multiple scenarios of capital -- of DCF model results under different periods of extension.  And I think, when you take a look here, you can see that, regardless of the period, if we were to extend the connection horizon, a significant capital contribution would still be required.  In other words, it would still not address the issues that developers are facing and which Mr. Corey discussed in his testimony yesterday.

In further extending the customer connection horizon, as you know, we have two phases to this project.  The group of customers who are affected by Phase 1 and Phase 2 are not the same.  How this would be actually, practically implemented in any way would introduce some tremendous, tremendous challenges.

MR. LADANYI:  So Mr. --


MR. VETSIS:  And finally --


MR. LADANYI:  Can I stop you here for a minute, because I only have, essentially, one hour and I don't want to spend too much time on this.  No doubt the Commissioners would consider all of the evidence before them when they make their decision, but they are still free to make their decision to extend the connection period, aren't they?

MR. VETSIS:  Correct, sir.  And what I'm providing here is reasons why, in the specific instances of this scenario, of this project, the extension of the customer connection horizon does not address the issues of the customers.

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, except I didn't ask you that.  I didn't ask you that.  I asked you whether you consider the Commissioners are somehow prevented from extending the connection horizon.

MR. VETSIS:  Again, I noted at the start of my response that the OEB can -- we believe a specific OEB panel can approve exemptions to the code and, in our view, a panel approval would provide greater certainty from the operation of our business.

Now, the question of whether or not they should is what I've been discussing here.  And I think, in the specifics of this circumstance, the extension of the horizon will not actually address the issues of the project, which is the significant initial capital contribution required for the developers.  And, as we note, there are great complexities due to the nature of this project, the multiple phases.

And I would note, as well, Mr. Ladanyi, when we do these analyses, you know, in really simple terms, you take the cost of the project and offset expected revenues and the remaining amount is what the -- what the customer would ultimately pay for.  And I think, if we go to JT --


MR. LADANYI:  Actually, I'm not interested in this, because you are getting into argument.  And I'm sure that your counsel will put together a wonderful argument that we will all enjoy reading, but the simple fact is that the Commissioners are free to extend the connection period, and it is really clearly there in the Distribution System Code.  And I'm going to end it there and move to another issue.

MR. VETSIS:  And before we leave, I would just make the last point, which is just, when looking at the revenues in one of the undertakings, we had provided a sample economic evaluation of just the loop within the subdivision itself.  So that's off the main line.  And so, for connecting 700 homes, the forecast revenues wouldn't be enough over a five-year period just to cover that downstream section, let alone the Brooklin line that we're talking about and any other Phase 2 expenditure.  And so that's all I would like to leave with you, and everyone else, as well, Mr. Ladanyi, is that, in the specifics of this circumstance, the extension of horizon would not address the issues at play and would instead only introduce tremendous administrative complexities, which are not warranted.

MR. LADANYI:  I won't argue with you about that.  I'm sure that this will all be addressed by parties in argument.  So the next topic I'm going to deal with is the advanced Distribution Management Systems which were discussed at length with Mr. Shepherd on Friday afternoon.  And can you please turn to interrogatory CCNBC-12.   You've got that?  Thank you.

Now, in question E -- that's the only one I'm going to talk about -- in question E, I asked if Elexicon had received the $4 million payment from NRCan and whether this amount will eventually reduce rate base.  And, in response dated October 12, 2022, you indicated that you will be receiving progress payments and confirmed the total will eventually reduce rate base.

So when you apply for OEB approval inclusion in rate base of the Advanced Distribution Management systems for 2029 rebasing, the amount for the advanced Distribution Management System will be lower by $4 million, NRCan contribution, than they would have been without the contribution.  Is that right?

MR. VETSIS:  That's correct, as well as for the purposes of the ICM funding.  The ICM funding is reduced by that amount, as well, Mr. Ladanyi.

MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  Between now and 2029, will the total amount spent on the advanced Distribution Management System sit in a work in progress account or will amounts be transferred to plant and service accounts as various components are placed in service?

MS. CHAN:  Mr. Ladanyi, I believe the -- as each part of the project becomes used and useful, that is when those items will be capitalized.

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, so it means transferred to a plant and service account.  Is that right?

MS. CHAN:  Yes.

MR. LADANYI:  From a work in progress account.

MS. CHAN:  Correct.

MR. LADANYI:  So when they are transferred -- by the way, when they are in the work and progress account, you are allowed to calculate interest during construction and then, when they are in a plant in service account, you can't do that anymore, but you can start charging depreciation and you can also start claiming capital cost allowance.  Is that right?

MS. CHAN:  When the construction work in progress is transferred to property plant and equipment, that is when we will start to depreciate the asset, correct.

MR. LADANYI:  So there will be an accounting depreciation and there will also be a capital cost allowance that will kick in.  So I'm more interested in capital cost allowance.  Would the advanced Distribution Management System qualify for Class 50 capital cost allowance, which has a rate of 55 percent?

MS. CHAN:  I do not have that information off the top of my head at this moment.

MR. LADANYI:  Can I have an undertaking, please.

MS. CHAN:  Yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you, Mr. Ladanyi.  That will be undertaking  J2.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.2:  TO CONFIRM WHETHER THE ADVANCED DISTRIBUTION MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS QUALIFY FOR CLASS 50 CAPITAL COST ALLOWANCE, WITH A RATE OF 55 PERCENT; IF NOT, TO ADVISE THE RATE.

MR. VETSIS:  Can we just have clarity on what that undertaking is?

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, the undertaking is, does Advanced Distribution Management Systems qualify for capital cost allowance class 50, which has a rate of 55 percent?

And by the way -- I'm just adding this so I don't get a straight yes or no answer -- if it does not, can you tell me -- tell us what the rate is?

MR. VETSIS:  Thank you, Mr. Ladanyi.

MR. LADANYI:  Now, to summarize, the Advanced Distribution Management System -- actually on multiple ones -- the cost is about 8 million.

Of that amount, you will be getting 4 million from the federal government, and you will also get the remaining 4 million through the capital cost allowance on your taxes over the next, I would guess, probably two or three years.  We'll find out soon enough once we see the results of Undertaking J2.2; is that right?

MS. CHAN:  We'll confirm that through the undertaking.

MR. LADANYI:  So why do you need any money from ratepayers?  You are getting 4 million from the federal and another -- and the rest of it you are actually going to recover in your taxes through claims on your tax returns; there is actually going to be -- all the money will pretty well be recovered by the time of rebasing in 2029, and without any contributions from ratepayers you will get all the money back.

MR. VETSIS:  Can we have a quick breakout room, Ms. Sanasie?

[Witness panel confers in breakout room.]

MS. CHAN:  Can you hear me now?  Apologies for the delay, Commissioners and Mr. Ladanyi.  We inadvertently went into a detailed accounting discussion, but there are some items that we wish to confirm, and so perhaps we can take that away to answer your question.

MR. LADANYI:  By way of undertaking?

MS. CHAN:  Yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes, we'll give that a number.  Undertaking J2.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.3:  TO CLARIFY THE PURPOSE OF RATEPAYER CONTRIBUTION TO THE ADVANCED DISTRIBUTION MANAGEMENT SYSTEM.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  Before I leave this --


MR. VETSIS:  Just before you move on, Mr. Ladanyi, I would note as well our response to interrogatory Staff 51.  We did have some questions related to accelerated CCA, and in response to part (e) -- (d), table 2, we did provide updated models, and even including the accelerated CCA, Mr. Ladanyi, you still see a material revenue requirement remaining associated with the projects, which would require funding.

MR. LADANYI:  I'll have to have a look as that.

Does it split out the Advanced Distribution Management Systems?

MR. VETSIS:  No, this is all done on an overall basis, Mr. Ladanyi.

MR. LADANYI:  That's what I thought.

Anyway, thank you for that.

I just have one further question about that.  So your answer to my interrogatory CCMBC 12 talks about progress payments, and I wanted to know if you have actually made any progress on this since October 12, 2022.

MS. ELEOSIDA:  Mr. Ladanyi, are you asking if we've received contribution payments or progress payments or we've made --


MR. LADANYI:  Right.

MS. ELEOSIDA:  -- progress on the project?

MR. LADANYI:  Both.  Actually, the other one was the second question.

The first question was whether you made progress on the project and, secondly, whether you actually received any progress payments.

MS. ELEOSIDA:  Yes, we have received progress payments and we have made progress on the project.

MR. LADANYI:  Can you tell us how much money you have got so far?

MS. ELEOSIDA:  Roughly around $973,000.

MR. LADANYI:  I won't ask you to give me the details of the progress.  I'm assuming you actually accomplished something.  But one question I would like to know:  Whatever you've done, have you actually completed it so it is now in service and in a plant in service account?

MS. ELEOSIDA:  Yes, correct, it is in service.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  I'm going to move to another topic so I can stay within my hour, or maybe less.  On Friday, I asked a few questions of the witness for the Brooklin Landowners Group about scenario analysis of the proposed electrical system in North Brooklin, and the Presiding Commissioner suggested that I pose these questions to you instead.  And, in the response to undertaking J2.13 -- you don't need to turn it up -- we found out that a typical roof could have solar panels of 1 to 2 kilowatts.  We also heard during testimony that there will eventually be 14,000 homes in North Brooklin.

So have you done any modeling of how this is going to work with 14,000 homes, each one with about 2-kilowatt roof solar panels?  That would be, by my simple arithmetic, 28,000 kilowatts that are going to be generated.  For example, how much of this power could be used by the load in North Brooklin and how much would be exported down the line to Whitby?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  Mr. Ladanyi, the load forecast report includes the calculations for a variety of energy resources; not just solar on its own, but also looking at the combination of solar with batteries.

Now, the overall, I guess, solution in there is that the distributed energy resources are being used to alleviate capacity constraints across the area, and not just at Brooklin.  So, for example, when the Brooklin Landowner Group is talking about putting in new developments with rough-ins for solar, it's exactly that.  They are not installing solar panels directly themselves.  They're allowing residents to choose to install solar panels on their roofs and for residents to choose to add chargers into their garage and choose to add battery storage.  And the same would be true for other customers across the service territory.

So, if we go to page 24 of the load forecast report, table 15 there shows where we we've done those calculations about the number of units that would be needed in order to help to defer capacity in the region by having enough generation or, in the case of having batteries, having enough storage to be able to mitigate peak load.  I would draw the attention to the third column there, which is the number of units that have both solar panels along with battery storage.  That could defer capacity needs in the region, whereas the first column, which is just solar, you see that there is less opportunity for deferral because, as you know, solar is not a controllable asset without the batteries; not a controlled renewable energy source without the batteries.

MR. LADANYI:  Sure.  And I've read this, and that's why I'm asking a simple question, because you have different interesting scenarios.  But the way I read your report, this system is only going to work if a lot of customers, in fact, do not install rooftop solar.  If all of them installed rooftop solar, the system doesn't work.  You are hoping that, actually, they don't.  Even though they will be having solar rough-ins, as you call it, if they all actually take up solar, this thing falls apart, doesn't it?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  No, absolutely not.  The proposal as it stands, so installing things like bulk bar optimization and things like the distribution automation on the system, as outlined in that future roadmap which is related to the ADMS that we already talked about, having the ability to control renewable energy on the system is going to be a key requirement just where the DER management system comes in as part of the ADMS.  So it would be -- if -- again, we are talking about speculations which are highly unlikely, but, if there --

MR. LADANYI:  Just a second.  I've read your stuff and it seems to me that you are modeling various best-case scenarios.  And I'm putting to you that you have to model a worst-case scenario, and the worst-case scenario in this case is if the customers actually do what you are telling the board you want them to do, but actually you don't want them to do.  Because, if they install all of those solar panels, you have actually not modelled that at all.  You have modelled some wonderful scenarios and it is an interesting report, but it doesn't actually cover a worst-case scenario.

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  No.  Again, I disagree.  So the scenario where a hundred percent of customers were to install solar panels, again, not directly model, but also not a worse-case scenario.  The fact that you have -- the fact that we are planning to introduce this innovative solution with the bulk bar optimization, with the distribution automation, with the DERMS, is specifically to enable DERs on the system and to enable the energy transition.

MR. LADANYI:  So your system that is being designed, and I actually have not found it in evidence, will be able to actually shut off customers trying to generate electricity using solar panels if you have got too much power coming onto the system that is being exported.  You can actually -- you will automatically shut them off.  Is that the plan?

MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Ladanyi, what you are describing is the function of a DERMS system.  Hello, Justin?  Can you hear me?  Testing, hello.  No?  Can anyone hear me?

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, I can hear you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes?  Okay, sorry.  What you are strike describing ask the function of a DERMS system.  Batteries installed in a house, a 10-kilowatt peak battery (inaudible) 10-kilowatt-hour storage component --


[Reporter appeals.]


MR. VELLONE:  Mr. Thompson, when you lean forward and speak loudly, it seems to come through clearer.

MR. THOMPSON:  I will lean forward and speak loudly.

MR. VELLONE:  And, for the benefit of all the Commissioners, what does DERMS stand for, please?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, acronyms again.  I apologize for that.  It is a pretty common one and I slip into it.  It was also  a struggle for the court reporter who recorded that as a Durham system.

So DERMS is spelled D-E-R-M-S and Mr. Martin-Sturmey just recently referred to that as a DER management system, which is what it is; so Distributed Energy Resource Management System, DERMS.   And what the DERMS system allows you to do is deploy your distributed energy resources when you want them, not just when they generate.

And that's what makes battery storage so critical to the application of solar panels.  It allows the utility to spread the available stored energy over the time period that is needed.  So a 10-kilowatt-hour battery will give you all of its 10 kilowatts for an hour, but it's the DERMS system that allows you to apply that hour between 5:00 and 6:00 p.m., between 6:00 and 7:00 p.m., or between 3:00 and 4:00 p.m., depending on the load curb of the system.  And this is how --


MR. LADANYI:  Mr. Thompson, before you go -- please, because I only have a limited time.  I know that DERMS, as you call them must be wonderful, but they are actually irrelevant to my question because there is no proposal to have customers install batteries, or anything.  There is no forecast of it.  They might well do it, we have no idea what they are doing going to do, but you are relying on a hypothetical.  So a discussion of this is completely hypothetical.  It is of no value whatsoever.

Now, can I have a question --


MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  Table 15 clearly shows the batteries, which I explained about five minutes ago.

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, and I know about that, so let's -- let me ask you about chargers then.

What is the load -- what load is the load of a typical level 2 or fast charger, or a Tesla charger, as some people call it?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  At peak?

MR. LADANYI:  Yes.

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  A single charger -- there is a lot of variance between the models, so for level 2 chargers, many of them are between the 8- to 12-kilowatt range in terms of peak.  That's typical, I would say.

MR. LADANYI:  So on a typical street in North Brooklin, can every house have a fast charger charging at the same time?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  I guess you're speaking about a subdivision in North Brooklin which hasn't been designed, so I can't really comment on that.  However, I can comment on the overall solution, which is to have management tools like DERMS, that Darryn was talking about.  SO DERMS would integrate --


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, and I understand -- (overspeaking) -- I'm going to run out of time.  Sorry.

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  -- chargers.

MR. LADANYI:  We know about DERMS.  What you are saying, management solution is essentially to prevent some customers from charging and allow other customers to charge.

So we currently have got just on the record that actually the design of North Brooklin electricity distribution system does not allow all of the customers living there to come home at night and charge their vehicles with fast chargers.

I can't believe anybody would be using slow chargers let's say five years from now, so the system actually that you are designing will rely on preventing people from charging their vehicles; is that right?

MR. BOUDHAR:  I can answer that question.  So when we design a system, basically, we consider all the parameters to do that.

Right know we're talking a very early stage about subdivision design, but eventually it will come to a point where, like you said, there would be a demand for all these chargers to come at the same time or at different times.  The system would be designed accordingly to accommodate for that.

MR. VETSIS:  And I believe, Mr. Ladanyi, I mean, you talked about these hypothetical scenarios.  Your own is a hypothetical as well.  A circumstance with 100 percent uptake of the most expensive and highest-demand charger in one community all at once is -- it would certainly be circumstance 100 percent of low probability.

MR. LADANYI:  Is current -- the current system in Whitby -- now let's talk about Whitby itself.  How many fast chargers can be on a typical street in Whitby charging at the same time, let's say a street of let's say 40 homes in Whitby, how many homes can charge using a level 2 fast charger?

MR. BOUDHAR:  Again, that depends on the transformer sizing.

We are talking about system planning here, design, so it depends on the situation.

We can't comment on that, like I said, because of the size of the transformers we can put there.

Typical transformer size, I can add to that, is a 50 kVA unit, for example, to accommodate ten houses.

When time comes, if the load growth, we might upsize that to 100 kVA, for example.

So all these are system planning design requirements and issues we're talking about here.

MR. LADANYI:  So I'm going to put to you that you are planning to have in North Brooklin a system that is far superior to what is currently in Whitby, and the customers in Whitby are going to have to pay for that, something that they themselves will not have until you install new distribution system transformers in Whitby itself.

MR. VETSIS:  I think I disagree with that statement, Mr. Ladanyi.  The Whitby SmartGrid will be applied and will be uniform.  The capabilities will be something that apply to the entire service territory.

What will be unique in North Brooklin is the creation of a community with DER, EV-enabled homes, so having the rough-ins.  That does not necessarily mean that every single home in there will have a battery or a solar panel or whatever.

I think the difference is in the rough-ins relative to the other communities.

MR. LADANYI:  I was not talking about that; I was talking about the fact that to do what you're doing in North Brooklin -- by the way, you haven't designed it yet, but you talk about it.  You are going to actually -- to do similar things in the rest of Whitby, you would have to install many new higher-capacity investigation transformers, which is going to cost a lot of money.

By the way, do you have an estimate of how much all this new distribution system transformers would cost in Whitby to bring it to the standard, and forget about your proposed Whitby SmartGrid, because Whitby SmartGrid does not include any new distribution system transformers.  It only includes other components.  I'm talking about --


MR. VELLONE:  Help me with relevance, Mr. Ladanyi.  Just help me with relevance to this application.

MR. LADANYI:  The relevance is the fairness, okay, and which is at the very root of this application which we talked about on Friday, is the fact that you're asking ratepayers in Whitby to pay for something that they are probably not going to have unless they spend a lot more money, and they pay for that for North Brooklin, so that's -- that is the relevance.

It's fairness, and fairness is at the core of this application.

MR. VELLONE:  I understood Mr. Murray's fairness argument yesterday -- or Friday, I guess, as it related to the developer's fairness concerns, which Elexicon is largely just parroting.

I'm not seeing the analogue to the North Brooklin area versus the rest of -- and I'm in the Commissioners' hands, but I'm not seeing it.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Ladanyi, was there a specific undertaking or question that you are asking there?  It was a loaded question -- I'm sorry for that characterization, but are you asking Elexicon regarding its system planning in Brooklin and for the rest of Whitby --


MR. LADANYI:  Both.  I would like --


MS. DUFF:  -- under certain assumptions.  That's what I thought I was hearing you asking.

MR. LADANYI:  Yeah, I would like -- I wanted them to compare what the customers in Whitby have and will have for years from now, compared to what is being planned for North Brooklin.

And so I was trying to explain that customers in Whitby are going to be forced to pay for something that they will not have for North Brooklin.

But, you know, I can ask for undertaking.  I don't know if it's going to help a lot.  We could leave it for argument.

MR. VELLONE:  I'll take that if you want to deal with this in argument.

MS. DUFF:  Will do.  Thank you.  Please proceed.

MR. LADANYI:  I have another question related to this.

So when discussing distributed energy resources, we only discussed rooftop solar panels and now batteries, residential batteries, but distributed energy resources also include customer-owned gas power generators and large storage battery banks, and the Province of Ontario has an incentive program called the Industrial Conservation Initiative that makes it attractive for institutional, commercial, and industrial customers to have their own gas generators or large-scale battery banks to avoid paying the global adjustment charge at peak times.

Have you considered the possibility of such installations in North Brooklin and used it in the design of the electricity distribution system?

MR. VETSIS:  I mean, Mr. Ladanyi, the ICI program, as you note, is for larger industrial customers.

You are talking about a residential subdivision, so it's unlikely that any customers within the subdivision would be able to qualify for ICI.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay, so there will be no institutional -- large institutional customers there either?

MR. VETSIS:  Not that we're aware of.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay, thank you.

Maybe I can ask you another question.  How much -- do you have any estimate of how much it will cost to bring up the rest of Whitby to the same standard as what you're designing North Brooklin to?

MR. VETSIS:  I think, Mr. Ladanyi, I feel like we're going way down the line here.

The ICM is the Sustainable Brooklin line.  It is the line from the Whitby TS up just to the edge of the subdivision.  
We're not that talking in this application about any downstream costs.  Those downstream costs of the system will be handled through capital contributions with the developers as it's built out.

I'm sorry, it confuses the question.

MR. THOMPSON:  And if I could offer, you've referred to the upgraded system in the North Brooklin area.

There is no specific design changes recommended to the subdivision standards for North Brooklin.  They're applying the same subdivision standards that would be applied throughout Whitby.

Now, it is possible and reasonable that those standards evolve over time, so there are some older developments in Whitby and some newer developments, but North Brooklin is just getting a subdivision design.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you, let me move to a different topic.

Can we have transcript of March 31st, page 113 on the screen?

MR. OTT:  I just need a moment for that, Mr. Ladanyi to get Friday's transcript up.  Did I hear page 113?

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, you did.

MR. OTT:  Thank you.

MR. LADANYI:  On line 15, you reminded the Commissioner that Whitby Town Council supported this application, as did the Regional Municipality of Durham and the Mayor of Whitby.  Now, why did you do that, since all of this is already in evidence?

MR. VETSIS:  I believe we talked about this with Mr. Shepherd.  You know, in our view, the unanimous support of the elected officials representing this community is a reflection of local preferences and something that that is -- and, if the local preferences are supportive of these investments, it would be something that the Panel should consider in its decision-making.

MR. LADANYI:  If we turn to page 114, which is the next page.  Here, you remind the Commissioners of the Minister's statement that OEB's role as energy regulator has never been more important.  Are you concerned that the Commissioners are maybe forgetful and need reminding or are you attempting to apply pressure on them?

MR. VETSIS:  No, Mr. Ladanyi.  I think what we're saying is that the projects in this application are aligned with the expectations of the OEB itself through the DEI, as well as aligned with the policy objectives of the broader government, which often sets guidance and direction for the sector.  And, you know, in bringing this to the mind of the panel, it's to show the alignment of all of the work and all of the evidence in this application and all of the outcomes of these projects and the net benefit it provides to customers, and the alignment of that with what is expected of the sector as a whole.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  These are all my questions.  I see I've finished 10 minutes early, so thank you, panel, Commissioners, and the court reporter.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Ladanyi.  Next on the list is Ms. Girvan for CCC.

MR. POLLOCK:  Presiding Commissioner, I do have one item in re-direct, which I can deal with at the end if you prefer, although it just came from a Mr. Ladanyi question, so your call.

MS. DUFF:  I think it should wait till the end.  Ms. Girvan.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Girvan:


MS. GIRVAN:  I've been told several times that I need to move my screen.  Thank you.  Good morning panel.  My name is Julie Girvan.  I'm representing the Consumers Council of Canada.  I just want to clarify a number of things.  That's sort of the point of my questions.

So who designed the system that you are seeking approval of, the lines into North Brooklin?

MR. BOUDHAR:  Elexicon has been designing the system in collaboration with consultants.

MS. GIRVAN:  And who are those consultants?

MR. BOUDHAR:  MQ Energy.

MS. GIRVAN:  And they are the ones that have been working with the developers?

MR. BOUDHAR:  That is correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  So you've had input into that, in terms of the specific line?

MR. BOUDHAR:  That is correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.

MR. VETSIS:  I would say it's a little bit broader than that, Ms. Girvan.  I think it's input, but also ensuring that any final design meets our requirements so that -- any system design requirements to fulfill our obligations under the DSC.

MS. GIRVAN:  And how are you testing whether their cost estimates are appropriate?

MR. VETSIS:  Could we have a quick breakout room.  Thank you.

[Witness panel confers in breakout room.]


MR. BOUDHAR:  Apologies, Ms. Girvan.  Can I hear the question again?  Because I think I misheard your question.

MS. GIRVAN:  My question was:  How are you ensuring that the cost estimates provided by the consultants are appropriate?

MR. BOUDHAR:  Okay.  So, for the record, the estimate was developed by Elexicon and not the consultant.  The consultant is working with us to do the design, but the estimates were Elexicon's estimates.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And on what basis did you develop those estimates?

MR. BOUDHAR:  Based on historical estimates and current market prices and costs.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, all right.  Thank you.  Can you -- just to being clear, so I'm clear for argument, can you point me to the most recent costs that you are seeking approval of, for both of the ICM projects.  I just need a reference.

MR. BOUDHAR:  The estimate is on Appendix B, table 8, which is page 36 of 56.

MS. GIRVAN:  And the 43 is actually -- the total project is the 47, which includes the formula for the NRCan funding?

MR. BOUDHAR:  That is correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  If you could turn up CCC -- sorry, excuse me -- SEC number 1.  And it has several attachments and I think, under attachment 1, page 6.  And, if you scroll down to the third paragraph, it says:
"In this context, Elexicon is preparing a proposal to submit to the OEB's Innovation Sandbox and OEB management group, whose sole purpose is to engage in informal discussions with its regulated entities to explore an innovative energy solutions."

Did you actually submit a proposal to the Innovation Sandbox?

MR. MANDYAM:  Ms. Girvan, no, Elexicon did not.

MS. GIRVAN:  If you could turn to CCC number 6, please.  So this interrogatory was asking about the benefits and which customers realized the benefits.  So you've got 673,000 that you've estimated on an annual basis, which is comprised of energy savings and customer reliability improvements.

Can you tell me how these benefits are allocated amongst the rate classes?

MR. VETSIS:  We've not done that analysis, Ms. Girvan.

MS. GIRVAN:  Is that something you could do?

MR. VETSIS:  Can we just have a quick breakout room to discuss?

MS. DUFF:  Before you do, was this 673,000, is that still --


MR. MANDYAM:  No, you are right, Commissioner Duff, it is updated to -- I'd have to go --


MS. DUFF:  -- 400 and something.

MR. MANDYAM:  Yeah, thank you.  Yeah, 473, I think, is the new number.  It's on JT121.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  You have --


MR. MANDYAM:  It's a --


MS. DUFF:  -- you can have -- you can have the breakout room.  I just wondered before you went out.

MR. MANDYAM:  Yeah, yeah.  I was going to -- thank you.

[Witness panel confers in breakout room.]

MR. VETSIS:  So Ms. Girvan, on the energy side, you know, the benefit is a 3 percent reduction, which should apply to each customer equally, regardless of the class, and Mr. Thompson can talk a little bit on the reliability front.

MR. THOMPSON:  With respect to the benefits of reliability, the calculation's based on a cost per outage, system outage per hour, and so everybody would be benefiting on a per hour basis the same, based on their load [audio dropout] --


MS. GIRVAN:  I guess what I'm really looking for is, with respect to residential consumers, how much of this benefit is attributable to represent -- to residential consumers?

MR. MANDYAM:  It is a challenge to split reliability, Ms. Girvan, across residential versus any of the other customer classes.

As Mr. Vetsis has said, the -- all residential customers will benefit from the 3 percent energy reduction.  So they're --


MS. GIRVAN:  But given residential consumers are lower volume, typically, than other customers, the benefit would be less for them, right?

MR. VETSIS:  I mean, the benefit is a 3 percent reduction in kilowatt-hour usage, right?  So, I mean, regardless of the size of the load, everyone will benefit by a 3 percent recollection in kilowatt-hour usage.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, is any of this 600 -- or, sorry, it is the 400,000 now.

Is any of that related to the Brooklin -- Sustainable Brooklin project?

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  No.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And of that 6 -- sorry, I keep saying 600.  Of the 400,000, how much of that is related specifically to ADMS?

MR. THOMPSON:  The ADMS project as a standalone has its own set of benefits.

These benefits would be a function of reliability and VVO, and the ADMS has some components in Phase 2 and Phase 3 that control the DA and VVO.  It would be simpler to say that those components are part of the reliability system that wouldn't give you any benefit without is the DA or the VVO.

I'm not sure how would you attribute benefit --


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  But these benefits are mostly attributable to the VVO, right?  That's what you're saying?

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I don't think that's true.

There is a breakdown of benefits in Appendix B, which I would have to find, but it takes -- those systems are contributing significant benefits.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  I'll have a look at them.

If you could turn to Mr. Shepherd's compendium and page 2.  And this refers to SEC number 18.

In the question we talk about class 4 estimates and that:
"The conditions for class 4 estimate presume that 1 to 15 percent of project definition has been completed.  Typical accuracy ranges of a class 4 estimate are minus 30 on the low side and plus 50 on the high side.  All other costs can be considered class 5 estimates as defined by ACEE."

And my question to you is, so we've got 47 million.  This is for the Whitby SmartGrid project.  And we're not going to have this in place until 2025.  So are you saying with this that the range could be something in -- within the minus 30 plus 50?

MR. THOMPSON:  So the technical definition of a class 4 estimate, which is a feasibility estimate, has that range of accuracies, and that's built up from how the estimate is created, which is based on estimated numbers of units times a fixed unit rate, and in both of those numbers there can be some variable that quite easily get you to minus 30 or plus 50.

For instance, if you thought you had 44 units at $100,000 apiece, that would be like interrupters.  That would be 4.4 million.

If you only needed 40 units and they were $80,000 apiece, that would be 3.2 million.

There is your minus 30 right there.  If it turned out to be 50 -- (overspeaking) -- mm-hmm?

MS. GIRVAN:  Sorry.  My question is really that there could be a wide range of costs at the end of the day relative to your forecast.

MR. THOMPSON:  So that's the way a class 4 forecast works.  If -- however, on the probabilities, the number that's being proposed is what's considered to be the project estimate.  The number in filing is this number.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. VETSIS:  Again, Ms. Girvan, as part of the structure of the ICM, we know that there is a true-up at the end of the process, and Elexicon would have to explain and justify the prudence of any overspends at that time.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So I guess that's really -- sorry, let's step back.

If you could turn to -- just hang on a second -- part (f) of that answer.  And again, we talked about the 400,000 benefits, but other than that you haven't done any sensitivity analysis with respect to customer benefits?  I just want to clarify that.

MR. MANDYAM:  That's correct.  We provided various NPV calculations through this regulatory proceeding, and those were on the record, additional sensitivity [audio dropout]


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.

Now, if you could go to section (e) of the answer, it says:
"Elexicon's tendering for each project would be the final step prior to commencement of each project."

So when will you be tendering for these projects?

MR. VETSIS:  We would proceed with tendering immediately after receiving approval from the OEB in this application.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So that's something you haven't done to date?

MR. VETSIS:  Again, as we've discussed throughout the application, you know, the scale of this project is why we have sought this pre-approval from the OEB, to ensure that we have the certainty we need with which to proceed.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  If it you could turn to undertaking JT2.6, and if you could turn, please, to page 2.  So, I just wanted to be clear -- and Mr. Shepherd spoke to you about this.  I want to be clear in terms of, for residential customers, what kind of bill impact we are talking about.

So I realize that this includes all elements of the bill, which includes the projects plus I think it's your -- the relief you are seeking with respect to Z Factor.  So I just want to confirm that the increase for residential could be consumers is 30 percent.  Is that correct?

MR. VETSIS:  The increase specifically to the distribution rates of all the components of this application spread over time.  If you added them all together, it would be 30 percent and, on a total bill basis, it would be 9.66.

MS. GIRVAN:  Now, where are you getting the 9.66?

MR. VETSIS:  Just scrolling down.  I'm looking at Table 2, which includes the benefits of the energy savings. Okay.  But not all of those savings go to residential consumers.  Right?

MR. VETSIS:  Again, just to clarify, Ms. Girvan, every customer will see the 3 percent reduction.  It's not class specific.  Every customer has an equal opportunity to receive that benefit

MS. GIRVAN:  You are expecting that they'll see that benefit.

MR. VETSIS:  I believe Mr. Thompson talked -- you're right, we are expecting, but I think Mr. Thompson walked Mr. Shepherd through a detailed discussion of why these expectations are quite reasonable.

MS. GIRVAN:  But you are not guaranteeing that benefit.

MR. VETSIS:  I mean, those are the -- like, that estimate is what we expect to see based on the engineering analysis that has been performed.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Now, when you made the presentation -- we don't have to bring it up -- to the Whitby Town Council, did you talk about 30 percent distribution rate impacts?

MR. VETSIS:  Why don't we bring up that presentation, Ms. Girvan.

MS. GIRVAN:  Sure.

MR. VETSIS:  I believe it was SEC 11, attachment 1.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.

MR. VETSIS:  As you see here, Ms. Girvan, on this particular slide, we have the project financials, the overall costs for these projects, as well as the estimated total bill increase.  And then, on the following slide, we provide the context of the total bill at roughly $126 a month, as well as the context that these would be on top of the typical OEB inflationary increases of roughly 3 -- the estimate at the time was $3.83 per month.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So you didn't specifically say it would be a 31 percent distribution.

MR. VETSIS:  No, not a percentage.  Again, we gave a total bill.  We gave dollar values and we were clear that these are over and above a typical inflationary increase.

MS. GIRVAN:  So you are now projecting the Whitby SmartGrid to be in service in quarter 4, 2025.  Is that correct?

MR. VETSIS:  Yes.  That remains from the original filed application.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And would you agree with me that there is a possibility that it could be delayed?

MR. VETSIS:  We remain confident that we are can deliver the program on that that timeline.

MS. GIRVAN:  Are you familiar with the PUC application?

MR. VETSIS:  At a high level, Ms. Girvan.

MS. GIRVAN:  And are you aware that that has been delayed?

MR. VETSIS:  I believe so, but I'm not familiar with the magnitude of the delay.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.

MR. VETSIS:  Again, though, as we've noted, the ICM mechanism itself does have protection built in for that circumstance.  There is the true-up at the end where differences in timing may be considered and the OEB can make a determination as to how best to treat that.

MS. GIRVAN:  I just want to be clear.  We went through this, I think, on Friday, but I want to be clear exactly how this scenario plays out.  So you are asking today for approval of the interim rate riders based on the cost that you pointed me to earlier.  That is correct?

MR. VETSIS:  Correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  And, when we get to 2025, what happens?  Those rate riders, the exact amounts are what you intend to put in place on January 1, 2025.  Is that correct.

MR. VETSIS:  Could we go to JT2.2, Ms. Girvan.  Or I guess Mr. Ott is controlling the screen.  At this time, the OEB will approve the interim rate riders calculated in this application.  At the time of the 2025 application, Elexicon will file updated models to update for the certain parameters so that we have the final materiality threshold calculation before getting the final rate riders that will be put into place.  And that's as described in this undertaking response here.

MS. GIRVAN:  But the element of those that is based on the cost of the project is not going to change.  Is that correct?

MR. VETSIS:  That's correct.  We are not proposing to update the cost of the project in those applications.

MS. GIRVAN:  Did you consider an alternative approach that would allow for parties, including the Board and the intervenors, to assess any updates you have with respect to the cost of these projects?

MR. MANDYAM:  I believe, Ms. Girvan, the application will be available for parties to probably make submissions and review the filing.

MS. GIRVAN:  So in terms of -- then I guess it's not clear to me how that would work if you are speaking approval today of the rate riders to reflect the cost of the project, but you may well have costs that vary from that.  And I think I heard Mr. Vetsis say that, well, that's okay because, at the end of the day, in 2029 when you re-base, all of the amounts will be trued up.

And I guess I'm just wondering if it might make more sense to have a look at those costs and potentially have a better reflection of the costs in 2025.

MR. VETSIS:  Ms. Girvan, our proposal as outlined here is that the capital costs would not be updated at the time of the 2025 application.  What would be updated in the ICM models is the specific underlying assumptions that, you know, would lead to the calculations, things like most updated load, inflation factors, et cetera.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, I understand that.  But --


MR. VETSIS:  That, in our view, is -- so, from our perspective, leads to the greatest degree of regulatory efficiency.  In this application, the OEB would consider and make a determination on the three criteria and that, you know, any deviations and any analysis would be best done when the final project costs would be known.  Because, even looking at costs, you'd effectively be re-litigating again, in a subsequent application, for costs that even themselves would not yet be final.  And so, from our view, this is the most efficient approach from a regulatory perspective.

MS. GIRVAN:  Would you be filing an update of your cost projections and your benefit projections, in that case?

MR. VETSIS:  Again, our proposal now is that we would be relying on the costs in this application.

MS. GIRVAN:  So the answer is no.

MR. VETSIS:  That's right.  Should the OEB require those as conditions, that would be something that Elexicon would do.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So, with respect to the Sustainable Brooklin project, you made a decision -- Elexicon made a decision -- to seek the exemption from the Distribution System Code for the Brooklin landowners.  What were the major factors that contributed to that decision?  Was it the cost of the potential capital contributions to the landowners?  Is that the reason why you brought this application forward?

MR. VETSIS:  I think we've talked about it a few times, Ms. Girvan.

It is a lot of factors coming together.

Certainly the circumstance in North Brooklin is unusual in terms of the fact that there is no available nearby capacity that can be leveraged.  And in terms of the distance from the TS, that would be the main point of supply, so that aspect is unusual, and it leads to a particularly high capital contribution.

However, we also have the factors of the various coalescing factors, the opportunity with the quid pro quo to create a high DER community and facilitate DER innovation and get ourselves ready to credibly pursue asset deferrals in the future, so it is all those factors coming together.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  If another group of developers comes forward in your service territory, would they be afforded the same treatment?

MR. VETSIS:  Ms. Girvan, at this point -- our view at this point is that this is a one-off, which is why we've requested this particular exemption.

It's not a policy; this is a one-off.

MS. GIRVAN:  So I guess you're saying you've done it primarily because of the costs of this particular line, but would --


MR. VETSIS:  Again, it is all the factors that I mentioned earlier coming together --


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  I understand, but going forward, what if a similar size -- a project came forward of a similar cost?  Would you afford them the same treatment?

MR. VETSIS:  Again, these circumstances are unique, as I mentioned, this, you know, undeveloped area, distance from supply, et cetera.

MS. GIRVAN:  So do you think that the OEB, as a matter of policy, should allow for exemptions for all LDCs who strike a deal with the developers similar to what you've done?

MR. VETSIS:  Again, Ms. Girvan, I think what we have here is a set of unique circumstances, and applications such as this afford the opportunity to put evidence in front of the OEB to consider deviations where circumstances are unique and different.

I -- you know, it's not Elexicon's view that changes are required to the DSC or anything in that matter.

It is, you know, we have a unique circumstance here, and the OEB has the opportunity and the ability to, if it deems it to be appropriate, consider these exemptions.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.

This is a question for you, Mr. Mandyam.

At the technical conference we had an exchange, and I was saying that the cost of these two projects, which exceed $70 million, are -- most of those costs are being borne by residential customers, and if you go to page 28 of that -- that transcript, you will see where we had this exchange, and you said to me that the reason why the residential consumers are paying is because that's the OEB's cost allocation methodology.

And you also said if there are alternative approaches that more appropriately distribute the cost and the benefits to the appropriate users, then presentations of that should be made in this application to the OEB Commissioners.

So I think what you're saying is:  You followed the OEB cost allocation methodology, and as a result the residential customers are paying the lion's share of these costs, but there could be alternative approaches, but would you agree with me that Elexicon's not proposing an alternative approach at this time?

MR. VETSIS:  To be fair, Elexicon is not proposing any other approaches, Ms. Girvan.

What's been done in this application is to apportion the costs between the classes in proportion to the way that the revenue requirement is recovered from all of those classes, so they would be effectively receiving the costs for these projects in the same proportions that they would for our other distribution system costs.

As we noted earlier, you know, the benefits, particularly on the Whitby SmartGrid side, from -- we view as benefiting everyone equally, and so we're following that standard OEB approach and that standard split when it comes to recovery as well.

MS. GIRVAN:  And do you think that's fair?

MR. VETSIS:  Again, because the opportunity for benefit is similar across the classes, we think it's appropriate to continue utilizing the OEB -- standard OEB-approved approach and the standard OEB -- again, standard -- to recover costs from these customers in proportion to the way that the revenue requirement is recovered from that.

MS. GIRVAN:  What are those customers getting for the Sustainable Brooklin project?

MR. VETSIS:  With the creation of a DER and EV-enabled community, we'll have the opportunity and the ability to credibly pursue asset deferrals.  And to the extent that we defer assets, defer expansions, that is something that all customers would benefit from in terms of cost reductions --


MS. GIRVAN:  That may not actually happen, right?  That may not actually happen.  You might not be deferring assets.

MR. VETSIS:  It's -- it's possible, but however the -- again, we believe that with the creation of this community and the foundational investments in the SmartGrid, we can leverage a DER enablement program to achieve this.

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.

MR. VETSIS:  And again, I think the idea of pursuing non-wires alternatives, Ms. Girvan, I would note, is something that the OEB is encouraging, and the way that the sector is going when we take a look at things like the FEI report.

MS. GIRVAN:  I understand.  Okay.  If you could just quickly -- I have just a few more questions -- turn to OEB Staff number 5.

Okay.  So, sorry, I'm looking at a previous one, so you've updated that for the 2022 actuals.  Okay.  That clarifies it, sorry.  I had an earlier version, and I was looking for the update, so thank you very much.  That's fine.

Now, I had a question:  If the Board were to only approve the ADMS portion of this project, would it qualify for an ACM (sic)?

MR. VETSIS:  Ms. Girvan, our request is for an ICM.  An ACM can only be requested at the time of a rebasing application.

MS. GIRVAN:  No, no, I said ICM.  Sorry.

MR. MANDYAM:  Subject to check, I would believe, yes, it would, because all of the Whitby SmartGrid and Sustainable Brooklin costs exceed the materiality threshold for 2025.

MS. GIRVAN:  No, no.  What I'm saying is if your application had been for the ADMS alone, would that have qualified for an ICM?

MR. VETSIS:  Can we go to Appendix B, page 35.

I think I've -- I think, given the table here and where the level of the capital spend relative to the materiality threshold, I do believe, though I haven't done the math, that the -- any costs within our ICMs would qualify, even a subset for ICM funding.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, all right.  Thank you.

And just one last question:  Did you consider requiring the developers in the Sustainable Brooklin project -- requiring them to be, in effect, more innovative, like doing something like installing EV chargers or putting in solar panels?  Did you consider that in terms of your arrangements with them?

MR. MANDYAM:  I'm not aware of, actually, those discussions.  I know what we ended up applying for and where the Brooklin Landowners Group landed in their contribution.  I'm not sure, to the extent -- I'm not sure how much Elexicon pushed for Brooklin landowners, as you just described.

MS. GIRVAN:  Does anybody else on the panel know?

MR. VETSIS:  No, Ms. Girvan, though I will note, given the testimony of the North Brooklin -- of the Brooklin landowners, you know, just the general concern with cost competitiveness, et cetera, I would not be surprised if, you know, the, you know, the request for further cost burdens as a condition might be something that was a challenge for them.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, all right.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  Thank you, panel.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, thank you, Ms. Girvan.

We are right on schedule.  We'll take our ten-minute break, and we'll be back at like 12 minutes after 11:00.

Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 11:02 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:14 a.m.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, we're back.  VECC is next.  Ms. Grice?
Cross-Examination by Ms. Grice:


MS. GRICE:  Thank you.  Good morning.  I'm Shelly Grice and I am representing the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.  I apologize for being on my phone, but my laptop crashed and I have no other choice today but to be on my phone, so I apologize for that.  I hope it doesn't make a significant difference.  Okay, good.

So I think, just to start, I wanted to refer to the five attachments that I sent around on Friday by email.  And I was hoping I could get an exhibit number for each of those attachments.  And maybe the easiest way for me to do that would to be to just read into the record what those attachments are.

MS. DUFF:  Please.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  So just in the order of how they were attached in the email, the first one is the Whitby Green Standard Reference Guide.  And I would propose that that be given Exhibit number K2.1.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be Exhibit K2.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.1:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "WHITBY GREEN STANDARD REFERENCE GUIDE."


MS. GRICE:  And the second was a Draft Plan of Subdivision Checklist, which is an Excel file, and I would propose that be given Exhibit  K2.2.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be K2.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.2:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "DRAFT PLAN OF SUBDIVISION CHECKLIST."


MS. GRICE:  The third thing was an Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure Costing Study.  I would propose that that be Exhibit KT2.3.

MR. MILLAR:  That will be K2.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.3:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING INFRASTRUCTURE COSTING STUDY."


MS. GRICE:  The fourth is the Solar Ready Guidelines, Exhibit K2.4.

MR. MILLAR:  That is K2.4.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.4:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "SOLAR READY GUIDELINES."


MS. GRICE:  And the last one is the EV Ready Requirements for Municipalities, Exhibit 2.5.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be K2.5.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.5:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "EV READY REQUIREMENTS FOR MUNICIPALITIES."


MS. GRICE:  And I will assure everyone that I am only referring to a few pages in those documents.  And then I also have a compendium that I sent around this morning, and I would just propose that that be given Exhibit number 2.6.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be Exhibit K2.6.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.6:  VECC COMPENDIUM FOR ELEXICON PANEL 2.


MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  So, in terms of what I am going to refer to today --


MR. VELLONE:  Ms. Grice, just to confirm, because I haven't had a chance to review the compendium you sent around this morning.  There are no additional materials?  You had sent that all on Friday?  It's all on the record?

MS. GRICE:  I believe so, yes.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay, thank you.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And the things I'm going to be referring to in my questions would be the VECC compendium 2.6 and K2.2, which is the Draft Plan of Subdivision Checklist.  So those will be the only two things that I will be referring to.

Okay.  Just to get started, I just wanted to see that VECs questions are focused on Elexicon's Sustainable Brooklin project only, and I'm looking at the quid pro quo proposal under that project.  So, just to begin, can we please turn to page 1 of VECs compendium.  There is a section there highlighted in yellow and it says:
"The core feature of the Sustainable Brooklin project is an approach through which new construction homes will be built DER- and EV-ready with standard rough-ins for rooftop solar, battery storage, and EV charging (standard rough-in)."

Can I just confirm that, when we read Elexicon's evidence, do the terms "DER and EV ready" mean the same thing as standard rough-in?  In other words, can we use the terms interchangeably?

MR. VETSIS:  I believe so, Ms. Grice.

MS. GRICE:  Thank you.  And then if you can please turn to page 15 of the compendium.  So, in the middle of the page there, it talks about the Ontario Building Code and it says:
"In 2018, the Ontario Building Code brought in EV charging requirements via regulation O.Reg. 139/17 that required every single new single-detached, semidetached, and new townhouse to be provided with a rough-in for the installation of future EVSE (charging stations)."

And it defined the rough-in as including the following:
"A minimum 200 amp panel board conduit that is not less than 1-and-16th inch and a square 4-11/16 inch electrical box."


So I just wanted to ask a couple of questions about Elexicon's proposal compared to the Ontario Energy Board.  So, with respect to the requirements that have just been listed here, is that the same definition that Elexicon is using for its standard rough-in for electric vehicles?  Does it align with this building code definition from 2018?

MR. VETSIS:  Can we grab a quick breakout room, Ms. Grice?

MS. GRICE:  Sure.

[Witness panel confers in breakout room.]


MR. POLLOCK:  Ms. Grice, while the witnesses are in a different room, you are not suggesting that the building code currently -- you're not using this to suggest the building code currently has this requirement?  It was subsequently rescinded.

MS. GRICE:  That's correct, yes, yes.  I just --


MR. POLLOCK:  I just want to -- I'm just trying to make sure that we are not going to end up in cross-purposes.

MS. GRICE:  No.

MR. POLLOCK:  Thank you.

MR. VETSIS:  Apologies for the delay, Ms. Grice and Panel.  I recall we had had some section evidence where we defined some of these elements, and we were just struggling to find it, so apologies for the delay.  Unfortunately, we still haven't found it, and, Ms. Grice, if you are amenable to it, it's something we can take away at the break and give you an evidence reference for that definition if that's helpful.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Some of my questions depend on it, so...

MR. VETSIS:  And I would note, as well, our understanding was that the specific amendment that you brought up, the 2018, was that not subsequently repealed in 2019?  That was our understanding.

MS. GRICE:  Yes, it was, but I'm more interested in what Elexicon is proposing, whether or not that is the scope of the rough-in or if it goes beyond that.  So I just -- if I can just assist, on page 2 of our compendium, where the evidence is with respect to defining, What Elexicon is proposing.  So, at the bottom of the page there, it talks about EV charging and it says:
"The Brooklin and developers will install electrical conduit from the circuit panel to the location of the EV charger with a plate at the point of a future installation, room on the wall for the charger, and appropriate room in the circuit panel for a breaker."

Is that the evidence you are probably wanting to refer to?

MR. VETSIS:  I believe so, but we'll confirm it after the break.  This looks like it.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  So I just want to clarify what this means and whether or not Elexicon is proposing to install wiring.  So is the plan to just install the conduit infrastructure for the electrical vehicle charging station, or will the outlet be energized?  That's really the question I'm asking, and that goes beyond what the 2018 Ontario Building Code specified.

MR. THOMPSON:  Just to clarify, so Elexicon is not installing any of this.  This is all going to be an obligation on the builders who the developer sells the properties to and the builders will be doing the EV-ready installation.

The installation that we're referring to here is, fundamentally, pipes, boxes, and space.  There is no wiring and there is no plug.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  So there -- okay.  I just wanted to confirm that.

There is no wiring and no plug.  Okay.  So then the proposal then under the quid pro quo would be that homeowners then would have to, once they take possession of the house or as part of that process, they would have to energize those outlets.

MR. THOMPSON:  They would have to install them and energize them --


MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And energize them.  Okay.

And is that also the case for the rough-in with respect to solar and the battery storage?  Would it be the same thing?  Conduits will be put in, homeowner has to do the rest?

MR. THOMPSON:  That is -- if you could scroll up half a page.  Conduit from the circuit panel to the attic, two spare breaker slots and sufficient space on the wall to install controls and an inverter.

That's what EV-ready means.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And then just in terms of then the -- so the quid pro quo is the cost that Elexicon is estimating and that has been put forward is $2,260 to do all three of those standards rough-ins.  Is that -- that's the proposal, correct?

MR. VETSIS:  Just to be clear, Ms. Grice, the 2,260 estimate was provided by BLGI, and it was based on detailed discussions that they had with their trades and the people that would be doing this work.  But that value, the 2,260, is what we're proposing will be utilized in the OEB's approval for what we would collect for any developer that does not meet the quid pro quo.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, and does an estimate exist of what the incremental cost would be for the homeowner to energize those outlets?

MR. VETSIS:  I'm not aware of any such estimate.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.

Just with respect to the electrical box and the standard rough-ins that are being put in place, my understanding is that it's the -- if we look at what the Ontario Building Code recommended, which was a 4-and-11/16th inch electrical box, that is the same type of electrical box that is used for a dryer or a stove installation.

Essentially, what I'm trying to suggest is that this is a very straightforward installation for these rough-ins?

MR. THOMPSON:  I'm not personally familiar with the status of that building code amendment.

My understanding is some initial work was revealed.  However, the box that's described is a standard plug box, and EV chargers are a known entity with known hardware, and this would be that --


MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you --


MR. THOMPSON:  -- I also say that it's also under the building code and it is not under Elexicon's standards, and it would be an Ontario ESA inspection requirement.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.

Now, I'd like to go to page 4 of VECC's compendium.  And what this is is this is an electrical vehicle charging infrastructure costing study that was prepared by AES Engineering, and it was commissioned by the Clean Air Partnership.

And I'm going to take you to a few references in the study, but essentially what it does is it summarizes the cost of making EV ready at the time of construction, and the study provides costing and technology information as of early 2021.

Now, my understanding is that this cost study was undertaken to inform local governments, developers, electrical designers, utilities, and other stakeholders what the costs of making parking and new construction EV-ready is.

And I guess my first question is, is Elexicon aware of this costing study?

MR. VETSIS:  I had never seen it before you had sent it.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, and do you have any knowledge of whether or not BLG is aware of this costing study?

MR. VETSIS:  That may have been a more appropriate question for the panel on Friday.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Well, let's keep going then.

If we can please turn to page 5 of the study.

It just gives an outline of what this study looked at, and so essentially you see in the table there that it looked at high-rise, mid-rise, townhouse, and single-family dwellings.

And I will just note at the bottom of the page that Toronto Hydro and Alectra were used as examples, in the high-rise and mid -- the high-rise archetype.

And what I want to point out is that this study looked at the costing for EV-ready infrastructure, and the definition is slightly different than what Elexicon is proposing or what the Brooklyn developers will be installing.

And my understanding, looking at this report, is that EV is now being defined as a parking stall that has an adjacent energized outlet, i.e., a electrical conjunction box or a receptacle at which an EV supply equipment can be installed in the future.

So what I'm suggesting here is that it appears since the 2018 building code that with input from all of the governments, developers, designers, and utilities, that the new standard for EV-ready is to have an energized outlet; would you agree with that?

MR. VETSIS:  I'm not sure that I can agree with that, Ms. Grice.

My understanding here is that the report you're showing is -- I could be wrong, but an attachment to the Clean Air Partnership report of EV-ready, and while there might be recommendations here, I would imagine that the binding recommendation that actually exists for a developer would be either the building code itself or any local requirements, and as far as I understand the -- there is no specific definition in Whitby or anywhere where this is happening where it might be required, and perhaps Mr. Thompson might have something to add.

MR. THOMPSON:  I would also like to offer that the phrase [audio dropout] receptacle at which EV supply equipment can be installed in the future sounds very much like a box to me.

And I'm not trying to be flippant, but I think that a box for the pipe connected to the electric panel is that.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, this isn't in my compendium, but in one of the reports there are definitions of what ESVE means, and it means the electrical charger.

I can take you there if you'd like to, but it actually refers to the charger.

MR. VETSIS:  Again, just to be clear, Ms. Grice, are we talking about a definition within the context of these reports or are you talking about a standard definition within the context of building requirements that someone would actually have to be required to adhere to?

MS. GRICE:  I'm going to get there, but I'm suggesting that it is the new standard for EV-ready, and I will come back to this.

So can we please go to page 7 of the compendium.

And I just wanted to point out that what the study concluded with -- that is relevant to the Brooklin development is that the cost to install in a single-family subdivision based on the input that was received from what I understand was a large consultation of developers and utilities, that parking can be made EV-ready, and so that means the outlet is electrified and the homeowner just needs to get a charger, that that can be done at a cost of approximately 2,000 or less per dwelling with on-site parking.

So I just wanted to point that out in the study.  And then --


MR. VETSIS:  I would note, Ms. Grice, that at least with respect to the standard rough-ins that we're talking about, that would be a scope of work that is a little bit broader than what's discussed here.

This is specifically EV only, whereas the -- with the context of Sustainable Brooklin, we are also talking about the conduits for solar and battery storage as well.

MS. GRICE:  No, I understand, but I also understand that so far on the record we don't have a breakout of what the 2,260 is, in terms of how much is solar, how much is EV, and how much is battery; is that -- that wasn't something that was able -- we were able -- or Elexicon was able to provide; is that correct?

MR. THOMPSON:  If I can remind you, Elexicon didn't provide any of it, it all came from the developer, and they gave us a single number.

MS. GRICE:  I understand, but this is Elexicon's application.

So I'm just noting that on the record we don't have a breakout of what the three standard rough-ins cost, and --


MR. VETSIS:  I appreciate that, Ms. Grice, and I would note on the record as well that the estimate, as we've said, came from BLGI, it came from discussions with the trade that would do the work, and I would also note on the record that the BLGI panel made themselves available at both the technical conference and the oral hearing.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.

So can we please go now to page 8 of the compendium.  So this is another study that was prepared by the Clean Air Partnership and, essentially, what this study did was it summarized all of the feedback from all of the stakeholders that were involved in the EV cost study that we just talked about and it provided information on the status of municipal EV Ready requirements in other jurisdictions, including Ontario.

And so I just want to point to a couple of things that the study showed.  Can we please go to page  13 of the compendium.  What this shows here is, based on the input from the municipalities, this table was developed which shows EV Ready requirements in other Canadian jurisdictions.  And would you agree that it shows that a leading practice that is emerging from the municipalities, in other jurisdictions, is 100 percent EV Ready requirements?  Would you agree with that?

MR. VETSIS:  I would agree that these jurisdictions specifically have elected to go down this path.  However, if we would just go up a page in your compendium, Whitby, where, when you talk about the development of Whitby, I see a statement here which says:  "No mandatory requirements exist in tier 1 of the Whitby Green Standard."

So, while there may be other jurisdictions that are ahead, when it comes to the requirements here in Whitby, that would apply to the Sustainable Brooklin project.  There are no such requirements.

MS. GRICE:  Correct.  And, with respect to the Sustainable Brooklin project, to provide rough-ins for EV charging for new construction, I would suggest to you, given this list, that that is not a first-of-a-kind proposal for ratepayers.

MR. VETSIS:  Sorry, what's the question, Ms. Grice?

MS. GRICE:  I'm just suggesting that the quid pro quo proposal to have 100 percent EV ready in residential is not a first-of-a-kind endeavour.

MR. VETSIS:  From our understanding, it would be within the context of our own community.  And, again, as well as the -- we talked as well earlier today about the uniqueness of the specific circumstances of this development, as well; you know, the distance from supply, the undeveloped green field area.  So I think there's -- when we look at our application, we certainly feel that all of the circumstances coming together represent a unique circumstance.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And then can we please turn the page to page 14.  And this is from that study, and it just -- it defines what EV Ready parking means.  And, in this instance, it suggests that the EV Ready installations that are being done and are emerging as leading practices across other municipalities include an adjacent energized outlet.  Do you see that there?

MR. VETSIS:  I do see that there.  Again, I would note, Ms. Grice, this is -- like, with respect to what's actually in place and what is actually a requirement in Whitby, that would not be the case for our circumstances.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And that is not your proposal.  Correct?  You are not proposing to energize the outlet?

MR. VETSIS:  No.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And there is just one other thing that I wanted to talk about in the study, and that is that, since the -- what the study pointed out was that many municipalities have started to advance their own EV Ready requirements in their development approval process because of the fact that the Ontario Building Code has revoked that requirement in 2019.

And so now I do want to talk about what the Town of Whitby is doing with respect to its own green standard.  And my understanding is this green standard applies to new development applications submitted after September 2020 with respect to draft plans of subdivision and site plans.  So can we turn to page 16, please.  Okay.  So just by way of a little bit of background -- and I'm sorry if it's just going to take a little bit of time, but I just want to set it up for my question and just explain the Whitby green standard.

And so my understanding is that the Town of Whitby became the first municipality in Durham Region to adopt a green standard for development.  And I just want to confirm that Elexicon is aware of this green standard and that it consulted this green standard in considering its quid pro quo proposal.

MR. VETSIS:  We did not consult this proposal in our quid pro quo.

MS. GRICE:  Was Elexicon involved in any way in developing this green standard?

MR. VETSIS:  I would not know offhand, Ms. Grice.

MS. GRICE:  Would you undertake if Elexicon was consulted on the feasibility of any measures in the green standard with respect to electricity grid impacts?  Would you be able to undertake to provide that?

MR. VETSIS:  We can take it away, Ms. Grice, but I don't believe that we did.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be undertaking J2.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.4:  TO CONFIRM WHETHER ELEXICON WAS CONSULTED ON THE FEASIBILITY OF ANY MEASURES IN THE GREENSTANDARD WITH RESPECT TO ELECTRICITY GRID IMPACTS.


MS. GRICE:  Okay.  So my understanding of how the Whitby green standard works is there are a series of sustainability measures and that, along with that, there is a checklist for new development related to draft plan of subdivision.  And I think probably the easiest way to talk about this green standard is if we could please open up K2.2.

Okay.  So my understanding of the way that this works is the checklist has four tiers.  So, if you look on the second sheet of the -- which we're on, okay -- tier 1 is mandatory and developers are expected to meet these requirements through the planning approval process.  And then, if you scroll along, you can see there are tier 2, tier 3, and tier 4, so I'm going, yes, right to left.  There are tier -- it goes up to tier 4.

So tier 1 is mandatory, which is baseline performance, and it is required through the development approval process,  and tiers 2 to 4 are higher-level voluntary standards.  And my understanding from reading the green standard is that they could eventually be tied to financial and nonfinancial incentives.  And, as part of the site plan approval process, applicants have to submit this checklist and show how they've met the requirements, and they also have to file a sustainability report to provide an overview of their commitment with respect to sustainability.  And then final plans with specific conditions for meeting this checklist will be provided as part of the development process.

So I just -- that's long-winded, but I just want to take you to, if we scroll down -- and what I did was,  and you've already mentioned this, I highlighted what Whitby is proposing with respect to electric vehicle charging stations.  And, I agree, there are no mandatory requirements at this point for residential.  But, if you keep scrolling down, we haven't talked about solar, and I just wanted to highlight that there is a solar readiness measure for low-rise residential development where buildings are designed to accommodate connections to solar PV or solar thermal.  And my understanding is that, as you move along through the tiers, there is a requirement by tier 4 to do non-voluntary measures.

So what I wanted to point out was that a solar measure exists, as it stands now, within Whitby's green standard.  So, we --


MR. VETSIS:  I would note, Ms. Grice, as I think you noted yourself, that all of the upper tiers are voluntary.  I think my understanding from -- I believe Mr. Cory on Friday  was asked about this particular standard and I believe the conclusion was that nothing is mandatory at this time.  There are no incentives associated with it and people only proceed voluntarily on this basis, and that the requirements did not apply to the individual homes was my understanding.

So I -- and I don't recall there being a lot of low-rise within the planned development here, so it's not quite clear to me that even this tier 1 item would be applicable to the circumstances of the subdivision.  However, probably would have been a better question for Mr. Cory on Friday.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  That's fine, but would you not agree that by the Brooklyn landowners implementing 100 percent EV-ready and 100 percent solar and battery rough-ins that, based on this green standard, that over time landowners have the potential to get credit through this development application process and there could be incentive supplied down the road as this evolves and new emerging --


MR. VETSIS:  Again, Ms. Grice, I can't speculate as to what the future would be.

All I know right now and from what I've heard of the testimony so far and read of the report is that the upper tiers remain voluntary.

There are no current financial incentives, just one of branding, and that the evidence from the developers themselves is, given the cost constraints and issues that they're facing, that it's unlikely to be an activity that they take on willingly or, you know, at this time, just given the nature of what's happening in the sector.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  SO given the Town of Whitby's goals and with respect to sustainable development and they're sort of first movers with respect to a green standard in Durham Region, which is tied to develop and applications, and I'm going to say that I think down the road there are potential for incentives as developers achieve tier 2 and tier -- tier 2 and higher, so wouldn't you agree that, given this suite -- the suite of measures before us, that it's possible or even likely that some Brooklin developers will undertake the EV- and solar-readiness and other green measures on the checklist in order to respond to the Town of Whitby's green standard, you know, and an incentive may even be that the -- it expedites the approvals process for the developer, but that -- and then that coupled with the fact that in the next 20 years homeowners who are going to be looking to buy electric vehicles and put in solar, that many of these initiatives could be undertaken anyway?

MR. VETSIS:  Again, Ms. Grice, I think that there's a lot of speculation there.

I don't think that we can agree to that.

As I noted, from what we've heard of the testimony of the developers themselves, that's not something that they're planning on undertaking at this time, given the broader circumstances.

I'd also note that, you know, this particular standard, I would expect that the town council itself would be aware of, and that the Whitby town council, regardless of this standard, heard of this application and the Sustainable Brooklin project and still gave it its unanimous approval, and so that's all I could really say at this time.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And I just want to confirm that in developing the pro quo pro (sic) proposal that this document was not consulted, that the trade-off between certain measures and arriving at electric vehicles and solar, that it wasn't discussed in the context of the Whitby green standard?

MR. VETSIS:  Not that I'm aware of.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.

And I just have one last area to go through, and can we please turn to page 20 of the document -- of, sorry, my compendium.

Okay.  So this document serves as a reference guide for working your way through the green standard checklist, and with respect to solar ready it says "for more information click here", and when you click there, if we go to the next page, what it provides is the solar-ready guidelines that have been developed by NRCan.

And I just -- I'm -- I guess what I'm asking is that, when the Town of Whitby will be reviewing development applications that include solar, can we -- would you agree that they will be looking to see whether or not the design of the solar adheres to this NRCan technical specification, these guidelines; would you agree with that?

MR. VETSIS:  Ms. Grice, I'm not part of their planning group, so I can't confirm what it is that they'll be looking at.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, but it's a [audio dropout] that they'll be looking at adherence to this standard?

MR. VETSIS:  Sorry, can you repeat that?  You cut out there a little bit.

MS. GRICE:  Would you agree that it's a possibility that they could be approving draft site plan approval -- or draft subdivision agreements based on adherence to this standard, given that it [audio dropout]?

MR. VETSIS:  Again, I'm not -- I haven't seen any evidence across the board that that's an explicit requirement, so again, it would be speculation on my end, and just looking even at this document itself, just the very first paragraph says, you know, "the guidelines specify a number of design considerations and modifications builders can make" so I'm not sure that this is an explicit requirement either, rather more just a set of guidelines or guidance, so at this point there's nothing that I can see that would fully confirm that this would be explicitly considered or required.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Can we please turn to page 23 of the compendium.  Now, what this provides is some things that the builders should do regarding the roof.

So they should identify at least 12 feet by 10 feet of obstructed area, and that they should ensure that the roof area identified has an orientation ranging from east to west facing corresponding to angles of 90 degrees to 270 degrees from true north.

If we can just please turn to the next page, it has a schematic of the roof space and orientation with respect to solar panels.

And I guess my question is:  There -- there's a -- METSCO has provided a forecast of DER penetration with respect to rooftop solar, and you were taken to that today, and that is in Exhibit B-4 of the load -- B-4, which is the load forecast, and it is on page 24.

Could we just go to that, please?  So I just want to confirm then that all of these assumptions with respect to rooftop solar, these assumptions have not looked at this standard and what the requirements are for the roof in order to arrive at these estimates.

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  So I guess the short answer is the solar-ready guidelines were not reviewed in advance.

In looking at the estimates here in the table, again, to emphasize, the first column pertains to solar only, whereas the third column relies on the solar and battery solution.

And I would note that for the solar-ready guidelines it talks about minimum size, about roughly 4 kilowatts for solar panel, if you take the square footage and estimate what the ability of the solar panel would be to generate to the minimum of 4 kilowatts there, so that's, I guess, a useful reference point from the solar-ready guidelines.

MS. GRICE:  Is there -- would it be possible to have this table reviewed to see if the percentages change as a result of that guideline?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  Could you be more specific with your request?

MS. GRICE:  Asked whether or not the percentages that are shown here are achievable, given what the solar guideline says?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  So, yeah, my understanding is that the solar guidelines only provide a minimum sizing.

So your request would be to show, if everyone only built enough solar panels to that minimum value of the standard, what the percentages would look like?  Because there is nothing else in the solar guidelines besides the minimum requirement.

MS. GRICE:  Yes, that would be helpful.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  Thank you for your patience, Ms. Grice.  We are just discussing what that calculation would entail and how the results would reflect basically the numbers we would use for planning at Elexicon.

So we think the 10-kilowatt size, as more of a typical value, is the number that we would use for planning and the other nuances, such as the angle of the house and so on, is not a variable that we would model as part of that type of analysis.  So I think the table stands as it is in the report, table 15.  Specifically, the solar panel itself is a driving criteria of the first column only.

The third column, rooftop solar with BESS -- hat stands for battery energy storage system -- that column is constrained by the sizing of the battery and not by the sizing of the solar panel.  Even if you change the solar panel sizing, the numbers in that third column are not goings to change.  It would remain that; for example, 53 percent for a five-year deferral.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  So you don't see anything in the standard at this point that would change 36 percent under rooftop solar in column number 1?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  Again, 36 percent is based on a typical size for  installation.  So, generally, a small installation would be something around the 4- to 7-kilowatt range, which would generate about 5,000 to 8,000 kilowatt-hours per year, whereas the 10-kilowatt assumption that is being used here in Appendix B4 is more of a typical-size installation.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Okay, thank you very much.   Those are my questions.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you very much, Ms. Grice.  I think, if Mr. Daube is ready with Distributed Resource Coalition, he can proceed and then we'll have our lunch break.  Are the witnesses okay with going another half an hour?  Nodding.  Anybody wants a break?  Mr. Daube, please proceed.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Daube:


MR. DAUBE:  Great, thank you very much.  So my questions will address three themes.  The first is:  What guarantees will be in place to ensure that the developers complete the work in the context of the Sustainable Brooklin project?  Number 2, the metrics in place to track how successful or unsuccessful both initiatives are.  And number 3, what Elexicon proposes to do with any cost savings that result from the two initiatives.

So the first theme picks up on some of the questions from the last examination.  I wonder if we could start by pulling up Annex B, page 8, please.  This is where Elexicon requests that a condition of the OEB's approval be that all developers that may stand to benefit from the Brooklin line construct DER and EV Ready homes.

Now, am I right that you've proposed that this should be secured either by a binding agreement or by conditions in the board's regulatory approvals?

MR. VETSIS:  Can we please take you to Staff 21, part (c).  Part (c), please -- (b), (b), my bad.  My apologies.  So I think we will pursue execution of a binding agreement through the relevant connections agreements and, in our view, it is the explicit OEB approval in this proceeding that will allow us the ability to do that.

MR. DAUBE:  And you are aware that the Brooklin Landowners Group have stated in their undertaking responses, as well, that they are willing to enter into legally binding agreements that reflect the commitment?

MR. VETSIS:  That is correct.

MR. DAUBE:  Now, I take the intention here is that the commitment should reflect the actual costs involved?

MR. VETSIS:  Sorry, could you re-frame your question.  Actual costs from which perspective?

MR. DAUBE:  So, at the moment, we've discussed a lot the figure of $2,260.  And, at the moment, I take it the intention is to base the commitment on that figure.  Is that correct?

MR. VETSIS:  That's correct.

MR. DAUBE:  And that's arising from an intention that the commitment should reflect the actual costs of installation.  Is that correct?

MR. VETSIS:  That it should be reasonably reflective, yes.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay.  Now, Mr. Cory's evidence on Friday was that the cost of installation may actually have increased in the broader context of inflationary pressures.  Do you have any views on whether the cost of installation may have increased?

MR. VETSIS:  In that context I think, you know, Elexicon defers to the experience of the developers themselves, which have been, you know -- have had to perform the work.  And so I would -- to the extent that they've experienced -- we've certainly experienced inflationary and supply chain issues of our own, so it wouldn't surprise us that there would be something similar for them.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay.  Well, in that case, to the extent that the Board ultimately relies on the cost of installation and potentially on that figure of 2,260, shouldn't the developers be required to file evidence concerning updated figures?

MR. VETSIS:  Again, we are in the hands of -- this is our proposal, is to leverage the 2,260.  Should the OEB impose conditions regarding updated figures or perhaps some form of inflationary adjustment over time of the estimate, that would be something that obviously Elexicon would comply with.

MR. DAUBE:  So doesn't it create an unintentional financial incentive for the developers not to do the work if doing the work will cost them more than paying the penalty?

MR. VETSIS:  At the end of the day, I think what we've heard is that the costs will be borne, you know, flown through the house price.  So I think, you know, the developer's effectively two choices would be to either pay us some money and flow that through and have nothing to offer to the customer, or at least do the rough-ins and have some sort of additional feature to offer.  So we would expect that, you know, given sort of that trade-off from a cost perspective, the incentive would remain to provide the rough-in.

MR. MANDYAM:  I think, Mr. Daube, just to add, we talked about, the developers are committed to a binding agreement, and so they're committed to installing the DER and EV-ready rough-ins, the standard rough-ins, regardless of the cost, is what I heard from Mr. Cory, so I think that the premise that I thought -- think your question is going down is that they would be -- the Brooklin developers would not install the rough-ins.

I don't think that is a premise that we could assume here, which is, they've already stated on the record and in testimony that they would, so whatever the OEB decides -- should the OEB decide, yes, this is a group and here is the conditions, and one condition is a certain cost, they will comply.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay.  Now, if they fail to do so, won't it be a retrofit cost that the homeowners will have to pay to the extent they want rough-ins and not the initial installation cost?

MR. MANDYAM:  That would be correct, if they -- so two things would happen there under this proposal.

One is the spot inspections would determine that some developers have not installed the standard rough-ins, so therefore they would have to pay the contribution, whatever the OEB has decided as the contribution amount is.

And then, you're right, the owner would -- the homeowner would have to bear the cost of that rough-in retro -- (overspeaking) --


MR. VETSIS:  Now, you mentioned -- but actually, before we move on to that, on the flip side to that, of course, is [audio dropout] the flip side to that, of course, is to the extent that the developer then is on the hook for that 2,260, that reduces the funding commitment from the rider --rate base and offsets the cost of the Brookline line, because the developer has not met their part of the quid pro quo and therefore repairs no longer continue to bear that cost, because the quid pro quo has not been held on their end.

MR. DAUBE:  I see.

My next question was going to be -- and that may be a partial answer to it -- why is it we are talking about contractual remedies that Elexicon holds, as opposed to the homeowners as against the developers?  Why shouldn't the homeowners be allowed to sue in the event they don't get the rough-ins?

MR. MANDYAM:  I'll start.

I think -- well, the condition -- so the contract is between Elexicon and the developers to ensure that the rough-ins are put in.

I'm not sure how -- so that's why the commercial binding agreement was in place.

I'm not sure how the homeowner could get interjected into that agreement to allow them to sue.

MR. DAUBE:  Mm-hmm.  Well --


MR. MANDYAM:  You would expect they would be purchasing the home, fully knowing the outcome that they're receiving.  And again, we're talking about a quid pro quo.  We're here in front of the OEB, a quid pro quo specifically for the purposes of funding the line to bring power to the community, and so within the context of that, you know, we're -- the proposal is that the broader rate base would fund this line in exchange for this -- the benefits of these rough-ins, and to the extent that that is not provided, the remedies with Elexicon from a rate perspective to make our customers whole for the developers not delivering on their end of that commitment.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay.  Can we talk about metrics by going to the undertaking response -- I guess interrogatory response, I'm sorry, to OEB Staff 30 and answer (b), please.

Now, I take it that Elexicon's general hope is that both initiatives, Whitby SmartGrid and the Sustainable Brooklin project, will be capable of producing data that demonstrate the success of the initiatives?

MR. VETSIS:  Yes.

MR. DAUBE:  And that includes, in this answer and elsewhere, data on the adoption of DERs and EV chargers?

MR. VETSIS:  Correct.

MR. DAUBE:  One of the challenges you're facing in terms of obtaining more data that would demonstrate the success of the projects is, it can be difficult to monitor what a customer does behind the meter; is that correct?

MR. VETSIS:  That's correct.

MR. DAUBE:  Is it fair to say -- so two general points here.  Number one, is it fair to say that aggregating data can partially overcome that challenge when it comes to analyzing matters like efficiency, customer savings, or electricity usage?

MR. THOMPSON:  I think the answer to that is, it depends a lot on the data, or what the utility can see is not necessarily the [audio dropout] --


[Reporter appeals]

MR. THOMPSON:  It would be fair to say it depends largely on the data and what you are trying to monitor.

The utility cannot necessarily see what you're talking about, but there is some information.  Could you elaborate?

MR. DAUBE:  I'm just watching the clock.  So I'm going to keep moving, and stick with that answer for the purposes of submissions.

A second way or another way that you've identified in this application that you're hoping will overcome the challenges through your DER-enabling program; is that right?

MR. VETSIS:  That's correct.

MR. DAUBE:  And you're hoping that that will pick up the specifics or more specifics about what's happening with particular customers; is that right?

MR. VETSIS:  Again, working with our customers directly will give us the ability for greater information.

MR. DAUBE:  So the program hasn't yet been defined.

You are planning on stakeholder consultations over the coming months and later on to come back to the Board with details; is that correct?

MR. VETSIS:  Assuming, of course, the projects are approved, then, yes, that would be the plan.

MR. DAUBE:  The intention at the moment -- well, I mean, the DER-enabling program will obviously only track people who take part in the program, right?

MR. VETSIS:  Likely, yes.  Again, we are talking about something that is in very early stages, but...

MR. DAUBE:  So fair to say that there are no concrete plans at the moment to monitor things like -- concrete plans to manor things like DER penetration, preferences, how this program has impacted the decisions of individuals not taking part in the DER enabling program.  Is that correct?

MR. VETSIS:  I mean, Mr. Daube, these are things that we would contemplate in the design, but certainly nothing concrete that we can -- you know, that we can commit to right now.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay.  And no data gathering specific to these two initiatives in advance of the DER enabling program?

MR. VETSIS:  We haven't done anything as of yet, Mr. Daube.

MR. DAUBE:  Now, you are already monitoring some things, some specifics to individual customers that are of relevance to these types of programs.  For example, in your materials, you report that your customer engagement reports show that 47 percent of your customers are very likely or somewhat likely to purchase NEDs.  Is that all correct?

MR. MANDYAM:  Subject to checks.  I think that was in Appendix B, page -- but, yes.  And I think there was some
-- were you referring to table 3 on...?

MR. DAUBE:  Page 29 is where I am.  I am just trying to keep moving.

MR. MANDYAM:  Yes, yes.  If I look there, there was -- page 29 -- 28 of 56, yes.

MR. DAUBE:  So there is nothing -- sorry, I didn't mean to interrupt.

MR. MANDYAM:  No, go ahead.

MR. DAUBE:  So there is nothing specific holding you back from enhancing your customer engagement efforts now to solicit more information along these lines.  Is that right?

MR. MANDYAM:  That's correct.  There is nothing holding us back.

MR. DAUBE:  And there is nothing that couldn't allow you, at this early stage, to obtain more information that would make it easier for you at a future date to understand what the mean load of customers with DERs is, as opposed to those who don't have DERs.  Is that right?

MR. MANDYAM:  Sorry, could you just repeat the question, Mr. Daube.

MR. DAUBE:  Well, I guess what I'm trying  to elaborate on here is, you know, you've identified the challenge of not having ready access to activities behind the meter and there's a gap between now and, at the very, least the DER enabling program, which may or may not include all of your customers, a gap in terms of generating information.  That could make it easier at a future date for you to report back on a number of items that might be of relevance to the board.

So, rephrasing the question, what I'm asking is whether there is anything preventing you from starting to generate that information that will make it easier for you to assess the impact of DERs for customers in terms of their electricity usage.

MR. VETSIS:  Could we grab a quick breakout room, please.

MR. DAUBE:  Yes.  And, if it's helpful and just in the interest of time.

MR. VETSIS:  Sure.

MR. DAUBE:  Globally, I'm also interested in efficiency, impact on decision-making, impact on what people are willing to pay on the price of a home, maintenance, and general satisfaction.  So I'll just ask it all at once, because I should probably move to the next theme when you come back from your breakout.

[Witness panel confers in breakout room]

MS. ELEOSIDA:  Hi, Mr. Daube.  I think what we wanted to note is that, in order to survey our customer base to understand, I guess, interest in the DER, we would need a DER, or DERMS system.  We would also need our DER enablement program, because, without those two things this place, we aren't able to see any sort of behind-the-meter DERs unless those customers actively enrol and participate in that program.

So we would need, essentially, the Whitby SmartGrid program in place to enable that survey to understand the participation that would -- or, the participation or interest of our customers.  You are on mute.

MR. DAUBE:  Sorry.  But, if you are going to assess how, for example, customer attitudes or receptivity toward DER and EV adoption revolve once these programs are available, the only way to get a full understanding is by establishing a full pipeline when they move in, isn't it?  Not once they're a year into the program.

MR. MANDYAM:  Mr. Daube, we'd be looking at that as part of the DER enablement program.  I think where you're going is -- your line of thought is we have a baseline of the Whitby ratepayers and customers at the point of -- prior to the program being offered and then, as the program continues, we could monitor and assess how the uptake is, and all of the additional data elements that you talked about, as part of that program enablement.  So it would -- what you're taking about is actually part of an enablement program.

MR. DAUBE:  Yes.  So the question is:  What is the disadvantage to setting it up early and as robustly as possible?

MR. MANDYAM:  So, in our pre-filed evidence, and we've committed to it, should the OEB approve the applications -- well, subject to being approved as filed -- the company is committed to putting an application for the DER enablement program out within six months or so.  So, you know, that is part and parcel with kicking this off.

MR. DAUBE:  Great, thank you.  Let's talk relatively briefly about savings.  And this is, I think, one of the famous charts in this application, Appendix B4, page 24, table 15.

Now, is it fair to say that achieving these milestones where capital deferrals and significant capital deferrals are possible, achieving those milestones would represent significant success for both the initiatives, both Whitby SmartGrid and Sustainable Brooklin?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  Definitely for Sustainable Brooklin.  Whitby SmartGrid has other benefits, of which enabling DERs did at Q1, so, yes, but not just that.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay.  And just briefly looping back to the last theme, doesn't a chart like this underscore the importance of getting a full set of data on what's happening in the minds of customers that are part of the Sustainable Brooklin project?  Because otherwise how do you know what the actual impact of Sustainable Brooklin was versus what they would have done anyway?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  I think those are your words, not mine.  What I would say is the table highlights the importance of having robust infrastructure and systems in place that can handle higher penetration of renewable resources on the system, and that there's benefit to that that we just talked about in the forms of a deferral.  I would say that is what it highlights.

MR. MANDYAM:  I think just to add, Mr. Daube, what this chart has shown and Elexicon has taken from it is a commitment for the DER-enabling program and the value of this -- of actions to generate and achieve that 50 percent solar plus battery storage target as soon as possible.  Mr. Vetsis talked about deferral of infrastructure [audio dropout]


So it behooves the company once the OEB approves this application, the Whitby SmartGrid, to work very hard to gets its information through its market intelligence and research as part of its DER enablement program, make a very qualified application or participation program for customers, et cetera.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay, in terms of cost savings, I understand -- and please tell me if this is correct -- that in terms of what to do with any realized costs savings, Elexicon's current expectation is that it would evaluate the greatest area of business need at the time those savings are realized.  There is no predetermination as to how any such savings will be used.

MR. MANDYAM:  Which savings are we -- are you talking the energy savings or the savings that comes from reliability, Mr. Daube?

MR. DAUBE:  Yeah, if we look at the deferral period here, my understanding is that you'll -- you're anticipating that with higher levels of DER penetration you'll be able to defer certain capital investments.

I believe the example you gave at the technical conference was a transmission station.

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  Yes.  So to be clear, in SEC 08, the interrogatory response details what those monetary values would be under different scenarios, if there is a table.  Yes, that's the table that shows what the net present value of -- would be based on different deferral periods.

I guess, to be clear, cost savings here is actually referring to a cost avoidance, so you are avoiding the cost of a -- of a new TS in this example, or in this situation.

MR. DAUBE:  So my general question here is, given that this would be clear evidence of success in terms of DER penetration then, and the impact on costs to Elexicon and the kinds of investments it needs to make, why shouldn't the default position be that funds should be reinvested to support the further transition to DERs?

MR. VETSIS:  I mean, we have to balance our spending with the overall needs of the system, Mr. Daube, and certainly, you know, with the SmartGrid in place and potentially the increased DER penetration with the Sustainable Brooklin, it will open up more tools in the toolkit for the utility, but ultimately we have to -- we have the obligation for safety reliability of our system, and so the -- as Mr. Boudhar mentioned on Friday, you know, as part of our ongoing efforts for planning, you continually direct the funds to where they might -- where they would be most effective rather than predetermining the type of investments that they would go to.

MR. DAUBE:  Okay.  I see I'm at 31 minutes, so thank you very much.

Those are my questions.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Daube.  To be clear, we are a bit ahead of schedule.  I wanted to make sure you were finished, because I could take a lunch break now if you want to reconsider your notes.  I'm just offering.  I'm -- we can take a lunch.

MR. DAUBE:  I -- no, I think -- I think -- no, I think I'm good.  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you very much.  All right.  I appreciate that.

Okay.  We're going to take our lunch break now for 45 minutes.  We'll come back at 16 minutes after 1:00, and we'll proceed with the Power Workers Union and their cross-exam.  Thank you.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:31 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:17 p.m.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you to everyone for being punctual.  We are going to continue with our cross-examination.  Mr. Rosenbluth, I see you have your camera on.  Are you ready to proceed?

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  I am, thank you.
Examination by Mr. Rosenbluth:


MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Good afternoon, panel and Commissioners.  Thank you.  So my first question, just to get started, and I'll give you the reference for this if it's necessary, but am I correct that the developers estimate -- in terms of the Sustainable Brooklin project, the estimate is that the total number of homes to be built by 2041 is about 10,000 up to 11,217?  Correct?

MR. VETSIS:  That is correct, yes.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Thank you.  And can we now -- with that in mind, can we now go to the table 15 of the METSCO report we've been looking at, which is in Appendix B-4, please.  It's actually - yes, thank you.  And looking at the bottom middle cell, which indicates this is for a five-year deferral period, it would require 79 percent penetration, i.e., 9,146 units.  Now, on my math, 79 percent of even the maximum number of forecasted units, which is that 11,217 figure, 79 percent of that is only 8,861 units.  Correct?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  I guess we have to check the math on the numbers you're stating.  I guess, for the purpose of proceeding, we can check.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Sure, subject to check, I think we can agree on those numbers for now.  In that case, isn't it fair to say that, in order to attain the deferral target set out here, the developers would actually need to build more homes than they're currently projecting to build?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  I think the number of units that is shown in the table here remains constant as the target, regardless of how many homes are being built in the area.  So, if they built more homes, then the percentage that was needed to achieve that target goes down.  If they build less, the percentage goes up.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Sure.  So, if that 9, 146 number is constant, then I guess I can rephrase my question as follows:  In order to achieve the five-year deferral target, the developers will actually need to attain a rate of penetration higher than the 79 percent listed here.  Fair?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  If we only attribute the new DERs to homes constructed by the Brooklin Landowners Group, then yes, that statement is correct.  But, as stated in the testimony by Mr. Cory, there are also other developers, so that number could easily also go in the other direction.  It could decrease.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Sure, and that's fair.  But I guess, for the purpose of this table, this table is only looking at the homes that these landowners are projecting to build.  It is not accounting for all of the other construction that may occur in the future.  Like, this 9,146 figure wasn't pulled out of the air.  Right?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  That is correct.  This table -- yes, so the number of units in this table refers to all detached, semidetached, and townhomes in the North Brooklin community, regardless of who is building it.  So, i.e., including homes that are not being built by the Brooklin Landowners Group, by other developers.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Where does it say what that projection is for the purpose of this table?  Like, when I'm reading this table, how do I know what number you are using as the denominator, shall we say?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  So the paragraph that introduces it -- so table 15 shows the estimated DER penetration required for deferral based on a number of DER connections required and total expected customers from new Brooklin development.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  So the phrase "new Brooklin development," you are saying now, refers not to the Brooklin Landowners Group development, but to all possible development in the time period?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  For the purpose of table 15, it includes all residential development in the calculation of those percentages that you see.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Right.  And I think I'm hearing the answer, but I just want to make sure I've got it.  So your answer is, yes, you are including all possible development, not just the Brooklin Landowners Group development.  Fair?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  No.  All residential development that is detached, semidetached, and townhomes, not all development.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Fair enough.  So let me try to ask a slightly more precise question:  It is not limited to the Brooklin Landowners Group, though?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  That is correct.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Okay, thank you.

MR. VETSIS:  By the way, Mr. Rosenbluth, neither would the condition that we have asked the OEB to approve.  Regarding the 2260 for any developer that does not rough-in the homes, that also would apply to all developers, not just the Brooklin landowners.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  No, understood.  And I was just trying to -- the question was really about the arithmetic of the table, that's all, so I think I've got the answer.  Thank you.

Now, staying with this table, on a somewhat different issue, generally speaking, the Sustainable Brooklin project as proposed is expected to result in greater electric vehicle uptake in the North Brooklin development, as compared to if the development goes ahead with the rough-ins.  Fair?

MR. VETSIS:  Fair.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  And so this, perhaps, state the obvious:  This scenario will essentially increase the demand, as compared to a scenario where you don't have the rough-ins.  Fair?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  I would say that this scenario decreases the cost for consumers to choose to install electric vehicle charging infrastructure in their homes, relative to places that don't have these rough-ins in place, and so it would incentivize it, yes.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Sure.  I think I was asking a somewhat different question.  All I'm trying to establish is that, if the proposal is designed to result in greater electric vehicle uptake, all I'm suggesting is greater uptake means greater demand.  Right?

MR. VETSIS:  I think you are sort of saying similar things with slightly different words, Mr. Rosenbluth.  You know, effectively, the rough-ins remove a barrier and facilitate the economics, so it should be theoretically easier, or more likely, that someone would proceed.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Right.  In which case demand goes up.  Fair?

MR. VETSIS:  Fair.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Okay, thank you.  Now, this table 15, obviously, it accounts for increased distributed energy resource penetration, but it doesn't seem to me that it accounts for increased electric vehicle penetration.  Is that fair?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Okay.  And so if this table were to essentially add an assumption regarding increased demand for electric vehicle charging, then the consequence will be that the projections set out in this table would be unduly optimistic.  Fair?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  I wouldn't agree that that is a fair statement, no.  We talked about this in the technical conference already, but I'm happy to repeat it here, and you can ask follow-up questions as needed.

So in developing the forecast, we made a conscious decision to base it off of actual historical load data and known development plans in the area, rather than developing speculative future scenarios.

So as you say, there are factors that can cause the load growth that can increase, such as electric vehicles, such as electric heating.

There are factors that can cause the load to decrease, such as energy conservative initiative, demand management, distributed generation.  And actually, bio-directional electric vehicle charging allows for both.  It is a load when it is charging the vehicle, and when it's discharging the vehicle it is supplying the grid, so there's factors that go in both directions, and we haven't done a detailed modelling of that for the reasons I've listed.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  And that's all fair.

I guess all I'm suggesting -- so you've just explained to me essentially what you did and why in your modelling.

All I'm saying is you've acknowledged a moment ago that this does not -- the table doesn't account for increased electric vehicle penetration, and I guess all I'm saying, regardless of whether this is the best way to do it or the only way to do it, if you account for that increased electric vehicle penetration that we have agreed is like -- is forecasted to follow, if you account for that, then these forecasts are no longer accurate.

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  Yes, so just thinking through that, so if there was more load on the system, which is a possibility -- it's also a possibility that there is less load on the system -- but if there is more load on the system, you would bring the capacity constraint further -- or closer into the future, and that need for DERs would increase.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  So I think you are essentially agreeing with me; I do understand that?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  Yeah, if you have more load, than the need comes sooner and you need higher penetrations to offset it.

If you have less load, the need comes later.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  But all else being equal, if you have more load than the figures quoted in this table need to be revised downward or negatively.

MR. MANDYAM:  Which figures would you suggest, Mr. Rosenbluth, would need to be reduced or --


MR. ROSENBLUTH:  I suppose what I'm saying is you're just not going to achieve these deferral figures based on this DER penetration if, all else being equal, you have more load.

MR. THOMPSON:  Actually, to just talk about the math, if you look at the three-year column, rooftop solar MBEs, the 39 percent, 4,000 units, that's a reasonably likely scenario in this table.

That 4,000 units is a deferral of a total amount of NVA.  That happens whenever you apply it.

So there's tables elsewhere in the report that list the point where the deferral is needed.  That point moves around, but that is still a fixed number of MDA deferral; it doesn't change that.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Right.  But the point moves around in terms of when it happens, right?

MR. THOMPSON:  Right, but this table doesn't speak to when it happens.  It just says that it is a three-year deferral if you can get 4,000 units on the system.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Okay.  Thank you.

Generally speaking -- this is a separate point now -- in terms of these -- you know, the solar units or the battery units, like any other assets of this kind, fair to say it has a useful life of some period?

MR. VETSIS:  That's fair.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  And probably for these types of assets we are looking at about 10- or 15-year useful life; is that approximately fair?

MR. THOMPSON:  They have a useful life.

Elexicon is not experts in consumer battery storage.  However, the more often you charge and discharge it, the shorter the life.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Fair enough.  And actually, nothing really turns on the precise numbers.  So can we just -- let's just agree on, call it 15 years as a hypothetical to illustrate.

But I guess what I'm really getting at is, whether it's 15 years, 20, however many years, the calculations here essentially assume that at the end of a given asset's useful life, the assumption is that 100 percent of the customers will immediately replace that asset; fair?

MR. THOMPSON:  This calculation is a deferral for the capital project, the TS.  Once that TS has been deferred, once it's been triggered, a whole different set of math kicks in.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  So you are saying it almost doesn't matter what happens after the useful life for the purpose of this analysis?

MR. THOMPSON:  The analysis is based on the net present value of the deferral of the TS, which is a 50, hundred-million-dollar capital installation, so we are deferring it for three years.  That's the NPV.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Right.  But in order to do that you need a certain degree of penetration, and I guess I'm trying to understand whether that -- the penetration requires a one-time installation or it requires reinstallation after the end of a useful life cycle.

MR. THOMPSON:  It would require that this facility operate for the period of the deferral, which could be one, three, or five years.

After that it is to the consumer's benefit to continue to operate the system.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Okay, thank you.

Now, earlier this morning, I believe this was an exchange with Ms. Girvan, and Mr. Mandyam, you and her had an exchange.

She asked you, how much did Elexicon push the landowners to be more innovative, and I think your answer was you weren't sure, and then, Mr. Vetsis, your comment on that question was, my notes say at least, that the request for any further cost burdens of the condition might be something that would be a challenge for the landowners.

I guess, Mr. Vetsis, starting with you, do you recall saying that?

MR. VETSIS:  I do, and I recall saying it was just based on the testimony that we heard from Mr. Cory, you know, early on Friday.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Fair enough, and so I guess it is equally the case that -- actually, backing up a second, so we know that the expected cost of installing the rough-ins was specifically forecasted to be about $23 million, right?

MR. VETSIS:  And it varies based on the units, but I think it was a range of 23 to 30.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Sure, and the amount of the capital exemption being sought is about 26 million?

MR. VETSIS:  26.6, correct.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  So if we just take the 23 as the cost as an illustrative number, even in terms of the spread there, between the cost to the landowners and the value of the exemption, like that 3 million differential, there wasn't -- you can't say to what extent Elexicon pushed the landowners to shoulder that portion of the cost; that didn't happen?

MR. VETSIS:  I'm not aware.  I'm not aware.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Mr. Mandyam, I take it you're not aware either?

MR. MANDYAM:  Yeah, no.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  So as far as you know, that did not happen?

MR. MANDYAM:  I don't know either way.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Okay.  So you don't have any knowledge of that happening; I think that's what you're telling me.

MR. MANDYAM:  Yeah.  That's correct; I don't have any knowledge.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  And I take it there is no one else on this panel who does?

MR. VETSIS:  That is correct.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Okay.  So there is really no effort made by Elexicon to seek any increase or any agreement on the landowners' part to shoulder any portion of that $26 million exemption?

MR. VETSIS:  Again, what we have here, Mr. Rosenbluth, is sort of a quid pro quo proposal which manages many different challenges.

We spoke to the challenge of the specific circumstances of this development, and we also spoke to the benefit of the system of having a DER-enabled community.  A specific parameter, to my knowledge, was not to equate the two dollar values, though they do happen to be relatively in the same ballpark.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  And that's fine, and there may have been reasons for it, et cetera.

I'm just asking a factual question, which is -- and I think I hear what the answer is, but I want to be clear.  I think that what you're saying is there was no effort made to seek any contribution by the landowners towards the cost of that capital exemption.  May have had reasons for doing that, but that is what Elexicon did.  It chose not to do that, right?

MR. MANDYAM:  I think that my understanding is the discussion started with 100 percent capital contribution and they morphed into the quid pro quo or the innovative solution that we have here.  The developers know that -- the Brooklin Landowners Group know that, if the board does not approve this application, they will be paying $26.6 million.  so that's what I --


MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Okay.  Those are all my questions.  Thank you very much.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you Mr. Rosenbluth.  Next is OEB Staff.  Ms. Djurdjevic.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Djurdjevic:


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay, microphone is on, screen is on.  Thank you, Commissioners.  Let me start with some general questions that Staff had about the Distribution System Plan and follow up on some of the discussion that you had on Friday, during Friday's cross-examinations.

First of all, I'm going to talk a bit about the forecast for return on equity for 2022 to 2025.  Now, I understand this is part of a confidential filing and I will not be asking about the confidential information, but what is on the public record.  First of all, we do have a compendium which I'd like to make an exhibit, which would be K2.7.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.7:  BOARD STAFF COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 2.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So that's Staff's compendium.  And, if you turn to tab 1 of the compendium, this is --


MR. POLLOCK:  Just to confirm.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Certainly.

MR. POLLOCK:   There is not any new material in here other than the spreadsheet that was distributed last week?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  No.  There is no new material, with the exception of tab 7, which I believe Staff had provided in advance for this compendium.

MR. POLLOCK:   The spreadsheet, yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes, the spreadsheet where Staff has added a couple of numbers, but everything -- and that was provided in advance.  But everything else in the compendium is already on the record.

MR. POLLOCK:   Thank you, Ms. Djurdjevic.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you.  So this is turning to tab 1.  This is your response to the Panel's question number 1, and here you were asked to confirm whether your forecast return on equity for 2022, 2023, 2024, and 2025 will be more than 300 basis points over 2023 deemed return on equity.  And the answer you provided there was no.

So, as I understand, Elexicon will be filing its actual 2022 ROE as part of the typical OEB reporting record-keeping requirements in less than a month or so.  Do I understand that correctly?

MR. VETSIS:  Yes.  I believe it's due on May 1st.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  And, when this is ready and available, will you agree to file it on the public record of this proceeding, along with an explanation of how it was calculated?

MR. VETSIS:  I mean, to be clear, all that we will have is the 2022 actual.

MR. MILLAR:  That's correct, yes.

MR. VETSIS:  We could provide that amount, yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  With the explanation of how it was calculated.  Yes?

MR. VETSIS:  Correct.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes?  Okay, so that will be undertaking J 2.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.5(a):  TO FILE FIGURES FOR ACTUAL 2022 ROE ON THE RECORD FOR THIS PROCEEDING, WITH AN EXPLANATION FOR HOW IT WAS CALCULATED


MR. MANDYAM:  Ms. Djurdjevic, is the Triple R section that actually has the calculation in it actually on the public record?  I'm just curious about filing something that is not put on the public record as part of the standard OEB file, now putting it on the record.  Section -- I think it is R2156, or something like that.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  Okay.  Well, Staff has advised me is what they would like to understand is all the drivers for the 2022 ROE.  So whatever is needed to provide that explanation, we would ask to be filed on the record of this proceeding.

MR. MANDYAM:  Yes, we can provide a narrative around the drivers for the 2022 ROE calculation.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  Okay, thank you very much.

MR. MANDYAM:  You're welcome.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  So, by our math, we had some discussion last week.  You know, we are now looking at two ICM projects and the total is almost $70 million.  Can you clarify whether you have any funding for either of these projects other than the $4 million from NRCan for the ADMS component.

MR. VETSIS:  No, we don't have any funding for these projects.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  Okay, thanks.  Now, we've some questions regarding some of the exchange you had with Mr. Shepherd last Friday.  So, if you could turn up tab 2 of Staff's compendium, you will see an excerpt from the transcript there.  And, in that exchange, Mr. Shepherd is asking you about spending that is already planned for the DSP.  And, you know, your response is that, you know, there's a DSP expense, but, because you have these two new proposed ICMs, you would be spending more than DSP provides for.  And so now, in addition to what you planned for in the DSP, you also have the Whitby SmartGrid project and the Brooklin line, both of which you want to do in 2025.

So my question is:  In terms of resourcing, does Elexicon have the resources, including full-time equivalent employees, to complete all of these projects in 2025?

MR. BOUDHAR:  So, in terms of resourcing, Elexicon relies on contractors to execute projects, as well.  Internal resources are used, as well as contractors, to execute all of the different investment categories that we have, not including -- outside the ICM, as well.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  So, in terms of these two ICM projects, that doesn't include incremental OM&A.  And, if you are using contractors to do that work, it sounds like it would be incremental OM&A.  Do I have that right?  And that this is -- the point being that this --


MR. VETSIS:  Ms. Djurdjevic, why would that be?  I mean, if we are using -- we would be leveraging contractors to construct the assets.  It would be capitalized.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  Okay.  So you would be capitalizing all of the labour costs for the Whitby SmartGrid, and this is included in the total project cost.  I'm just trying to understand.  Like, whether the labour cost -- is there something additional, so you are going to have to hire extra people, or is this already capitalized in you budget or expected costs for the Whitby SmartGrid?  I'm going to make it really simple.

MR. VETSIS:  Yes.  We will capitalise these costs in accordance with our accounting policies.  There is no incremental OM&A that we are requesting as part of this application.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  You may not be requesting that, but do you anticipate as potential that there will be incremental OM&A?  Like, you may need additional staff or additional resources.  You may not know it yet, but it's possible that --


MR. VETSIS:  Well, if we don't know it yet, then, well, we wouldn't expect it.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  Okay, changing track for a second.  So you talked about the ADMS component on the Whitby SmartGrid, which you've said is already in progress, and I just wanted to confirm what I believe you've already stated, that this is going to be in service in 2024.  Is that correct?

MR. VETSIS:  Go ahead.

MS. ELEOSIDA:  My apologies.  Yes, that's correct, June 30, 2024.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  Okay.  Would the Elexicon be able to undertake to re-file the ICM models for both rate zones for the Whitby SmartGrid with only the ADMS components, assuming the 2024 in-service date?  Would you give that undertaking?

MR. VETSIS:  Could we have a quick breakout room, please.  Thank you.

[Witness panel confers in breakout room]


[Reporter appeals]


MS. DJURDEVIC:  The request was for an undertaking to re-file the ICM models for both the Whitby and for the Whitby SmartGrid using only the ADMS components, assuming they'll be in service in 2024.

[Reporter appeals]


MS. DUFF:  He just asked for a breakout room.

[Witness panel confers in breakout room]

MR. VETSIS:  Ms. Djurdjevic, can we take you to Staff 10, please?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.

MR. VETSIS:  If we go to part (b), our views of the models you requested are sort of irrelevant to the proposal here.

As we see in part (b), we note that there is modules within the ADMS which are required to operate the VVO and FLISR systems, and in our view we cannot separate the two.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Well, as I understand, and I am  not the engineer, but you had this really very helpful infographic in your application which shows the ADMS as the backbone or the trunk of a tree trunk, with all the other components of the SmartGrid as sort of the branches.

So my question is whether it's possible whether you considered, because you already have some NRCan funding for the ADMS component, if, for example, the OEB only approves that component of the SmartGrid project, it would be helpful to see what that ICM model would look like.

So with -- so whether or not you think, you know, it is relevant or not, and, you know, we understand your position is that you can't separate the component but, you know, what we've heard and what Staff's thinking is that possibly it could be phased, and with ADMS being the backbone of the system, what if the OEB only approved that component of the project at this point?  We would need to see what the ICM model for that to know whether it qualifies, whether it meets the test, so I repeat my request for the undertaking to refile that model, the ICM model, with just the ADMS component.

MR. MANDYAM:  With respect to the test, materiality threshold is exceeded by all of the Whitby SmartGrid, so I think we can answer that the ADMS component would exceed the materiality threshold if the Board only approved that.

The picture that you reference, the pictorial, which is page 23 of 56, is the grid of the future depiction that Elexicon is striving towards, and I think, you know, we stated by -- we stay with, that there is -- we don't see a relevance in providing an ICM calculation of the revenue requirement just for ADMS.  We would note as well --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Is that a refusal?

MR. VETSIS:  -- before --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Sorry.  Sorry, wait --


MR. VETSIS:  Yes, and I would note as well, section 6 of Exhibit B, page 51, you know, separating an installment would certainly not address the issues Elexicon has with respect to the bottom of page 51 with respect to the long lead time required for material holders, et cetera, in order for us to proceed with the other aspects of the project.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I might come back to this after the break, but at this point to keep things moving I'll move to another topic, the Brooklin line.  And I would have you turn to tab 3 in the Staff compendium, where the response from the panel and -- sorry, the question from the Panel and your response to Panel question 3(a) is -- the question was to provide your planning and engineering standard that requires a loop feed and feeder design, and in response to this request you provided your response and attachments, and you see those as part of that tab 3 in the compendium.

And Staff reviewed those attachments, and we noted that neither reference standards explicitly state that physical separation of feeders on different pole lines is required when the load on the line is above a specific amount.

Would you agree that -- or point me -- if you say that there is a requirement in those documents, you can direct me to it, but my understanding from Staff advised me it is not a requirement.

Do you agree or disagree?

MR. BOUDHAR:  So I disagree there, just to -- I'm going to point you to the first document that we filed, which is the engineering guideline load interrupt switch.

I believe we -- under -- let me just -- under section 2.0, risk management.  So:
"Where multiple feeder circuits are present on one pole line, due consideration shall be given to the impact of downed pole or otherwise disruption causing the energizing of the pole line.  Such remedies may include building an additional pole line on the opposite side of the street."

So that talks about the building a pole line on the opposite side of the street.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes.

MR. BOUDHAR:  Now, when referring to the size of the pole line, which is on the other standard, the underground design standard, which refers to a 600 amp capacity on the main feeders, so here we are talking about 227.6 kV feeders, which are the main feeders supplying the future North Brooklin development.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Sorry, are you finished your comments on that?

MR. BOUDHAR:  Yes.  And that's --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So I looked at that section and -- as well, and, you know, the -- under the heading "risk management" --


MR. THOMPSON:  Before you move on --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Oh, sorry.

MR. THOMPSON:  I'm sorry, there was a point that I was trying to get in, and I was trying to be polite at the same time.  I apologize.

So from METSCO, and I represent many utilities in Ontario, and what I would say is two things are common:  One is that nobody would put their backup supply and their main supply on the same pole line.  If a car hits that pole you lose everything.  So that would be standard practice for utility design in Ontario.  And secondly, it is also relatively standard practice that the planner's job isn't documented to the nth degree in a procedure, so the fact that there isn't a procedure shouldn't be seen as anything other than the fact that Elexicon hires professionals to do this job, and this is typical of how a utility would do it.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thanks for that clarification.

If we can go back to that document, the -- that were just looking at.

So under the heading "risk management", and the paragraph above the one just quoted by the witness, it says:
"Consideration of critical infrastructure, such as hospitals, medical facilities, civil services, must be given, such that these services can be quickly restored, and therefore may require more switching options than deemed necessary."

Then the next paragraph is "where multiple feeder circuits".  Now, again, I'm not the engineer.  You know, this is your standard.  My reading is that this discussion, when we are talking about critical infrastructure, and I would ask -- I would suggest to you that a residential subdivision would not typically be considered, you know, quote unquote, critical infrastructure, like a hospital or similar.

Would you agree with that?

MR. BOUDHAR:  So, I mean, in addition to what's been filed here, I can refer you to the Distribution System Code, section 441:
"A distribution shall maintain its distribution system in accordance with good utility practice and performance standards to ensure the liability and quality of electricity service."

Now, going back to what Mr. Thompson said here is, good utility practice, again on the same Distribution System Code, definition of good utility practice means "any of the practices, methods, and act engaged in or approved by a significant portion of the electricity utility industry in North America", which is a standard loop design that we're talking about here.  That's the standard they're referring to.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  But, again, we've asked it in IRs, we've asked it in conference, where is a document that says, "In this situation and context, this is what best industry or best practices are"?   And what Staff is trying to get at is that, so far, what we've been provide is that we don't see a written guideline that requires, or even indicates, that a best practice requires separate pole lines in the circumstances of supply to a residential area, as opposed to supplying critical infrastructure.

MR. THOMPSON:  What I would say is that there isn't a best practice.  There is the  There is a CEATI guide for distribution planning, which definitely speaks to loop feeders, but the distribution planners in Ontario are generally not working to such a best practice guide.

What I'll also say is you are referring to this as a residential subdivision, but it is 14,000 homes.  It is more like a town, so it is a significant number of customers, it's not a simple residential subdivision.  Which, by the way, would also always be looped.  There wouldn't be a radial feed to a residential subdivision in most situations like this.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  At some point, does Elexicon do a sort of risk assessment for one versus two pole lines for the Brooklin line?

MR. BOUDHAR:  Sorry, can you repeat your question again.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  Well, the section of, you know, the standard that you provide is called "risk management."  So, you know, when we hear about risk management, we typically would expect to see some type of risk analysis of, you know, the likelihood of something happening, and then the impact that it would have, and then how that risk needs to be mitigated.  And so the question is whether Elexicon -- whether you've done that kind assessment; comparing one pole line versus, you know, your proposed two-pole-line option.

MR. BOUDHAR:  So what we -- number one is we're talking about an urban development here.  So, when we talk about system planning, we're referring to an urban development that we are building remotely that we don't have any system, first of all, to provide service from and/or to back up our feeders that we are building here from the Whitby TS, which is about 10 kilometres away.  And we know that, year 1, we're talking about 700 houses just in year 1, so we're talking about, like you said, an urban development here.  I'm just --


MS. DJURDEVIC:  Maybe I can just -- and I don't mean to interrupt you.  My question is really, if you had done this risk assessment and there's a document, is that something that you could provide.  And I'm hearing that there isn't a documented risk assessment that, if I'm hearing that correctly.

MR. BOUDHAR:  That's right, so not as a document, but in one of the panel questions we were required -- or asked, actually -- to provide the reliability numbers, for example on the Lake Ridge Drive, which is one of the roads where we will be building -- or the main road, actually, where we're building these lines -- and provide the number of outages that we've seen on that.  So it's just basically to reflect the number of potential outages if we build a radial feed here versus two lines.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  Okay.  So, simply on that point -- and this is in Staff's compendium, as well, at Tab 3 -- and this was the OEB Panel's question number 3, part (b), and you were asked to provide the number of outages caused by fallen poles on another portion of line which is called Lake Ridge Road.  And the reason -- I guess my understanding is the reason that was used is because it it's comparable in terms of, you know, its length and that there is no load off that line.  And you were asked to provide information about outages on this line in the past five years.

And then the answer to that question was that you don't know the number of outages caused by fallen poles, but what you did provide was a list of outages on Lake Ridge Road for various cost codes.  Right?  That's what is on the screen in front of us.

So, even for the outages that you've listed here, you can't actually specify whether any of these outages are related to downed poles or other causes.  Is that right?

MR. BOUDHAR:  So just to be clear, there is no cost code for fallen poles.  We have cost codes for tree contacts, like the coast codes that we basically -- I don't want to repeat them all -- but filed here in our evidence.  So this is basically what can cause an outage.  A pole does not fall.  Like, I mean, maybe with a car accident or a vehicle hitting the pole, it may fall, but we don't have a cost code specifically for fallen poles.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  All I'm trying to get at is, from all of these outage causes, we don't know if any of them were caused by down poles, whether being hit by car, struck by lightning, or whatever other -- I mean, basically, you just don't know.  You don't have that information.  Right?

MR. BOUDHAR:  The table provides the cost code which is -- for example, number 3, let me just see, tree contact; number 6, adverse weather or foreign interference.  So the table here is just providing only the cost codes that we can file with.  If there is, for example, a vehicle accident, we can determine if there is any vehicle accident on that pole.  But, regardless of a vehicle accident or not, we are looking at an outage caused by any event, not only a vehicle accident here.  So even a tree contact can cause a pole to cause an outage.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  Not to belabour the point, but, you know, you cite in particular the reason for the second pole line is a situation where a pole is completely felled, like down.  And, you know, other than a car plowing in the pole and knocking it down, there are a limited number of situations that would cause an entire pole to go down.  I mean, there are various -- could you have a feeder go out, you can have various other things, but, for an entire pole to be down, there are fairly limited circumstances.

So, anyway, my only point in looking at this table was that we can't tell from this, nor do you have the data to indicate, how many, if any, of these outages were due to poles being down.

MR. VETSIS:  Maybe to word this slightly differently, Ms. Djurdjevic.  What we have provided is the detailed information that we have regarding outages to lines on a road named Lake Ridge Road.  We have provided it in the breakdown that we have tracked, and these are all items that can cause outages.  Now, the fact -- like, you know, having a line on both sides of the road ensures that, for example, if a tree falls down on one side and takes down the line, hey, the pole is still up, the line is down, you have the redundancy on the other side to protect customers.

So, again, what we have provided here is the most detailed information we have regarding the outages along these similar kinds of assets.

MR. BOUDHAR:  Yes.  And, I mean, in addition to what Mr. Vetsis said, we have provided the example of a vehicle hitting a pole.  That's just one example of many, multiple.  Like I said, here, you see the cost codes.  So a pole could be taken down by multiple events or different causes.  So it could be, like he said, a trunk of a tree hitting the pole or hitting a wire, causing an outage.  It could be a vehicle -- so not necessarily specific to just vehicles hitting a pole and taking down a pole.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  Okay.  If you could turn to tab 4 of Staff's compendium.  We are still talking about pole lines, unfortunately, but a slightly different topic.  So this is in response to OEB Panel's question 2, part (f), and you were asked if Elexicon had considered building one pole line initially, with a second pole line added in the future after more houses are built in the North Brooklin development and the demand increases.

And so your response is at page 6, looking at the second sentence, where you stated that, "if Elexicon would have to build additional circuits in the future, the cost will excessively exceed the total cost of $26.6 million forecast in the application."


I wonder if you can quantify, actually, what "excessively exceed" means, and I'll just -- 50 percent increase, 100 percent increase, or what are we talking about?

MR. BOUDHAR:  Well, just to be clear, again, so Elexicon would not entertain building a radial feeder to supply power to a residential urban development, but this is basically [audio dropout] to the question that was asked, if we would do a radial feed, this is the cost, but if -- again, if we would have to build another line on the other side of the street, eventually that cost will be much more than the cost that was provided here for just one line, because obviously material is increasing.  So again, it depends on what that pole line would be built.

So I can't provide a percentage, 25, 50 percent.  That depends on what line -- that line will have to be built.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So still looking at this tab 4, your response to the panel's question 2(c) and 2(d), you were asked to -- I'll just let you pull that up.

So you were -- here you were asked in these two separate questions to estimate the cost of a single pole line, and you were -- provided responses, so (c) and (d).  You provide two estimates, each for a single pole line.

Am I understanding this correctly?

MR. BOUDHAR:  That is correct, yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So if we wanted to know what the cost of two pole lines, you know, as you are proposing, wouldn't we just total the cost of what you've responded in sections (c) and (d), you know, the one line plus the other line; is that -- would that not be the sum total, or are you --


MR. BOUDHAR:  No --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  -- suggesting that it would be a much more incremental cost?

MR. BOUDHAR:  No, so the estimate that was provided here, answering the panel question, is, if we would assume that we are building only one pole line, so there is some assets that were not accounted for on the estimate, and the size of the poles, for example, would be different, so we were basically just putting an estimate based on the question that was asked.

So just to give an example is the duct bank.  If we build the duct bank coming out of the TS for the two lines would be different if we would consider only a duct bank for one single pole line.

So that's why the difference between adding these two estimates compared to the initial estimate of $26.6 million are not the same.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So still on this OEB Panel question and response, so this is 2(f) and -- now looking at the second sentence of your response there.  So if you did a single 27.6 kV pole line now and then a second one a few years later, your evidence is that you would have to consider a completely new design; is that correct?  Is that what -- or at least that's -- am I interpreting that correctly?

It is a completely new design and engineering charges, modifications to the underground, duct bank, so on.

So, I guess we'd like some help to understanding why adding a second pole line, same 26.7 kV as the first one, a few years after 2025, why that would necessitate a completely new design.

MR. BOUDHAR:  So again, here we are just responding to the questions that were asked on the panel, is to provide an estimate for a single pole line.

Elexicon would not build a single pole line to supply power to the -- this new development, but just to entertain the question that was asked, if we would build a pole line, let's say, for a radial feed for this subdivision or for this development, I would say a future pole line would be built on the other side of the street, so it would be completely different design on -- basically to build a second pole line.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  It would be completely different, 26.6 kV pole line with two feeders, but involves a -- anyway, again, I'm not the engineer, but it sound like you would have the same thing on one side of the street as the other side of the street, so we're not quite understanding why this entails a completely new design, but, you know, that's your evidence and that's your position.

The other question that, you know, Staff has, like, why this couldn't be done in two phases.

You know, like, you're -- and you know the subdivision is going to grow at, you know, 700 units per year, so could you not phase in, you know, the second pole line to meet -- to correspond with the load and the demand that there's going to be coming from, you know -- as a subdivision grows?  So --


MR. BOUDHAR:  No.  So this second pole line is not for the -- or not for the demand that we're anticipating.

It is for redundancy of the first pole line, so the outage is shorter if there is any outage.

And the pole line is built with a minimum of 600 amp capacity.

It is like, you know, there's no -- you can't build a pole line for just whatever you need.

I mean, initially we have -- we're talking about 700 homes in year 1, so building a pole line for that amount of demand, it would be a one-line of 27.6 kV, which would provide 600 amp anyway.

I don't know if you want to add to that.

MR. THOMPSON:  It just would help.  It is possible to feed a small cluster of houses radially.  It happens in rural designs.  You drive down the street.  You find a couple houses at an intersection and they are on a radial feed.

My -- as a planner, my limit for when that would need a loop feed would be something in the tens -- it would be dozen, two dozen houses.  At 700 homes a year we would go over that limit in the first three or four weeks.

There is no practical reason to defer the backup.  Just, we shouldn't tangle up the idea of capacity on the lines with a backup.

A proper supply to a subdivision like this is a loop feed.

It would just be done that way anywhere, and to get the loop feed takes two lines.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Still on this question, Panel question 2(f).  You've also stated that you estimated the cost without contingency of additional underground circuits, and I guess -- you know, Staff's understanding is that, you know, the planners have three feeders per pole, and if you are trying to clarify, I understand -- if you are saying this, in this estimate the -- with the underground portion that's only -- you are only planning for space for two feeders and not planning space for a potential third circuit, and the question is, well, why -- if you know you are building underground ducts, which are expensive, and you have got to, you know, do a lot of work, why wouldn't you build in the capacity or the space for a third circuit, which you can just pull through later as needed.

And so the question is, you know, when you talk about, you know, not planning for a contingency of, you know, additional underground circuits, like, why would you not do that if it -- if it's not a significant incremental cost?

MR. BOUDHAR:  So again, the response to -- that we provided is answering the question that was asked by the panel, but it's not what Elexicon would do.

We do not build a radial feed again, so this is just to -- we are asked to provide an estimate for a single line and two scenarios, one on each side of the street, and that's what we provide, and this is the estimate for a single line, but this is not what Elexicon would consider to feed the development.  It would be two lines on each side of the road.

MR. VETSIS:  Again, Ms. Djurdjevic, I apologize.

We are going back to the DSC here and the requirement on Elexicon to provide, you know, good utility practice, and it is interesting you mention Staff questions, why wouldn't you just do ducts for three lines from the beginning.  Also, let's look at what we are following here.

We are following good utility practice.  We are thinking of the redundancy for these customers.  We are designing a looped feed with lines on each side of the road to ensure that these customers don't suffer from extremely long outages, and these poles have the capacity to expand in the future for the future load.

So in fact, when you take a look at the proposed design that is in this project, it is fully aligned with that, like, lowest total long-term cost and the best outcomes for the customers and dealing with our obligations for reliability and safety of the system.

So as Mr. Thompson already said, the practices we are following here is good utility practice.  It is common throughout our service territory.  It is common throughout this province.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay, just slightly different couple questions on the pole line, but I just want to do a time check with panel, and I have another like, five minutes most on the Brooklin line, and then we'll move to my questions about Whitby SmartGrid, so I can keep going if that's okay with the panel.

MS. DUFF:  I think it is a great idea to finish this line of questioning, and before we break, though, Ms. Djurdjevic, I do have a few questions to this panel.  I'm just following up on that undertaking that didn't happen.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay --


[Reporter appeals]

MS. DUFF:  Yes, we'll take the break now, and we'll reconvene -- because someone's getting a phone call -- we're going to reconvene, let's just make 2:30 p.m.
--- Recess taken at 2:18 p.m.
--- Upon resuming at 2:33 p.m.


MS. DUFF: Ms. Djurdjevic, did you want to finish the five minutes on the one area to complete that subject matter?

MS. DJURDEVIC:  Yes, thank you.  Thank you, Ms. Duff.

Kind of going back to, you know, the discussion about the loop feed, and maybe I had overlooked asking the question, but just explain what a loop feed is.  Because it seems that Elexicon's position is that a loop feed requires a physical separation into two pole lines, and what Staff would like to explore is whether it's possible to have a loop feed even with one pole line, as long as you have, you know, two or more feeders -- you know, wires -- on the line.  And the thinking is that, you know, if one line, one feeder, is compromised, you still have, you know, at least one other feeder that is energized and can, you know, supply power.  And would this not also provide that "loop feed" that Elexicon maintains is, you know, sort of the best practice?

MR. THOMPSON:  If I could step in on that.  It's not actually a loop feed that is required.  The phrase we use in system planning is a N minus 1 contingency.

[Reporter appeals]


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, I'm sorry.  I'll say that slower:  It is an N minus 1 contingency, where N is normal and minus one means that any significant component is out of service.  So, if you look at any significant customer, they will be serviced from two of everything.  There will be two different breakers, sometimes two different transformers, two different feeds on two different pole lines.  There is no specific place, except at the customer's premise, where any one device will take that customer or that subdivision.

So, if you've got two lines on one pole, then the pole is clearly the weakest link.  You referenced a couple of scenarios where a pole -- because a pole didn't fall down, it is considered to be highly reliable.  Well, in fact, sometimes a car will hit a pole and just knock the bottom half of the pole and the top half of the pole will stay up on the wires, but it is still a pole that needs work.

And now, when the linemen come and they want to put a new pole line up in those lines, they can't de-energize both of those circuits because they need both circuits to supply the major customer.  So now you have a safety compromise.

So you could have a tree branch come into a line and short the two feeders together, because they are only 36 inches apart now.  You could you have a car hit a pole and take out both feeders.  So, to achieve N minus 1 design, you need your feeders to be on separate pole lines.  Generally, when it's underground, you would try to put them in separate duct bank and separate manholes to keep them separate.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  Thank you for that clarification.  Can we turn to tab 3 of Staff's compendium.  This is the response to the Panel's number 3, and again referring to attachment number 1, "Engineering Guideline for Load Interrupt Switches."  If you flip to page 7 of that document -- it's at page 7 of 12 of that document -- okay, the very last sentence which states:
"The recommendation is to divide the feeder into 4- to 5-megawatt sections, approximately 1,000 to 2,000 customers."

So, just I'm trying to understand whether -- does this mean that each feeder in this proposed development could accommodate approximately 1,500 customers?  Am I reading this correctly?

MR. THOMPSON:  No, you're not.  That would be -- 15 megawatts would be the general range of -- I have to make sure I've got my units right -- but customers, four times 1,000 to 2,000, five times 1,000 to 2,000, 5,000 or 6,000 customers.  We have to be careful on the exact numbers.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  I'm sorry, I'm not quite following.  Is it -- my reading of this is that a feeder can be divided into these sections with -- and what you're saying is it's actually you need a section of feeder for 5,000 customers?

MR. THOMPSON:  What this mean is a feeder from end-to-end, starting at the breaker and going to the tie point at the other end, can be broken into four or five sections.  In the distribution automation plan, we used four, which is how we got three-and-a-half switches per feeder.  It is just sectionalizing the feeder with switches on either end of each section.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  So what Staff is trying to understand is, if we're looking at a subdivision where you are going to have an additional about 700 customers each year, right -- so after four years, let's say it has 2,800 customers -- Staff's understanding was that two feeders would be sufficient to supply 2,800 customers in those first four years, so from 2025 to 2029.  Is that how this -- sorry, go ahead.

MR. THOMPSON:  So this document is not evidence of that in any way.  The planning documentation previously provided by Mr. Boudhar describes the load per feeder and the number of customers, and I think I would defer to him to fill in the gaps there.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  Sorry.  Once again, what was the document referred to by Mr. Boudhar, if not this attachment 1?

MR. THOMPSON:  I believe it is attachment OEB Panel 1.  Sorry, I'm (audio dropout).


MR. BOUDHAR:  Attachment 2, when referring to the 600 amp, which is attachment 2, the Underground Distribution Expansion for Residential Development.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  Sorry, we got a lot of feedback echo on that one.  Could you just repeat that, just so we have it clear on the transcript.

MR. BOUDHAR:  Okay so for --


MS. DJURDEVIC:  Which document are you referring to as the guideline for how many feeders are needed per, you know, 1,000, 2,000 customers, or whatever the guideline is?

MR. BOUDHAR:  No.  Just to be clear, it's not by number of customers.  The document attachment number 2, OEB Panel 3, talks about the capacity of the feeder, the main feeder, being 600 amps.  So a 27.6 kV feeder, we are talking about 15 megawatts of load that can accommodate up to 3,500 customers, residential customers.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  Well with that [audio dropout] questions on the Brooklin line.  And I know that Commissioner Duff had some questions she wanted to follow up with before I ventured into the rest of my cross on the SmartGrid.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  Now, I was reading the transcript.  I'm a bit confused what happened there.  Staff had a request for you to calculate the ICM calculations for just the ADMS.  When I read the transcript, Mr. Vetsis said, "We cannot separate the systems," and he was talking about the fault isolation and the Volt/VAR optimization.  I want to make sure I understand the company's position.  Is it that all three are needed?  I realize all three components, ADMS, the Volt/VAR, and the FLISR -- here I am using acronyms -- are all part of your ACM funding proposal.


But I am kind of asking something, I guess, a little bit different.  To understand, the Board Staff's question is saying:  But what if the Board were only to give you funding for one?  What is the company's position on that?  I know that is not your application, but perhaps I need -- I need to understand your position on that question.

MR. POLLOCK:  I might take a stab, Commissioner Duff, and allow the witnesses to step in if they need to.

My understanding is that the scope of the ADMS component of the project itself can change, depending on whether or not you approve the other aspects of the Whitby SmartGrid project.  So, for example, if you don't give approval for the Voltage and VAR and optimization field devices, there is no need to install the add-on module to the ADMS for that conservative voltage-reduction VVO component.  There is no need for the brains if you don't have the field devices.

Similarly, with the distributed automation switching, you don't need the FLISR brains if you don't have the DA field devices, so I think that's why our witnesses were struggling with the request.

What are you asking them to assume?

MS. DUFF:  Well, it really wasn't my question.  However, I'm just trying to understand the objections.

So with the ADMS alone, you've already spent money, you already have things in-service, and you've already received NRCan funding, so that's a given.

MR. VETSIS:  Well, I would not --


MS. DUFF:  The ADMS is happening whether there is ICM funding or not.  Is that -- have I understood it correctly?

MR. VETSIS:  It is a little more nuanced than that, Ms. Duff.  It can be -- the NRCan funding specifically is tied to the scope of work and the scope of the ADMS that's within this application.

As Mr. Vellone noted, there are certain modules that if you didn't include the hardware components would not be required, but in doing so you would change the scope of the ADMS relative to the NRCan funding, which would put some of our funding at risk, and that -- and so that's sort of why there is a bit of a linkage and a challenge on our front.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  That's not what I understood, actually, when I read the technical conference transcript.

I understood that the ADMS -- and maybe I'm wrong, and that's why the clarification is needed -- that the ADMS was the trunk of the tree -- I think Mr. Vetsis described it as such -- and then can you decide on software add-ons to enhance the usefulness and the benefits, but that what you are telling me now is actually the ADMS itself is not just a single option.

In scope it can actually be larger and smaller, just in isolation alone, the ADMS; is that correct, Mr. Vetsis?

MR. VETSIS:  Correct.

MS. DUFF:  So what scope are you working with now?  What's the scope are you delivering right now?

MS. ELEOSIDA:  Hello.  If I may refer you to Elexicon's interrogatory response to OEB Staff 9, attachment 1, Schedule A.  And I can show you the scope that we are -- that is currently in progress.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.

MS. ELEOSIDA:  Okay.  If we look at this table here, Phase I ADMS, we are currently working on the ADMS phase.  So that is Phase I.  And just to reiterate what Mr. Vetsis noted earlier, it's that our NRCan funding that's set out in this Schedule A is predicated on a number of objectives, of which one is just the ADMS piece, so if the ICM funding is not approved, we would need to scale back our scope of work, in which case may put our NRCan funding at risk.

And if you scroll down a little bit more, it shows you the Phase II components for DERMS, which would be required to facilitate the DR uptake for Sustainable Brooklin, and then there is a Phase III component around the communication infrastructure, which really is -- we are going to have the field hardware for VVO and FLISR, and we need to bring that telemetry back into our systems with a robust and secure communication backhaul, all of which are required for the SmartGrid and the DR uptake for Sustainable Brooklin.

MS. DUFF:  If the panel does not approve the ICM funding for the Whitby SmartGrid, are you going to have to pay money back to NRCan?

MS. ELEOSIDA:  That is a possibility.  They may claw back.

MS. DUFF:  Well, thank you very much for that answer.  Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry --


MS. DUFF:  Is your camera on?

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- Madam Chair, but this is like the curve that I think nobody expected, and I -- would the Board indulge me to try to clarify something?

MS. DUFF:  Well, it is actually Board Staff's cross, if Board Staff doesn't mind.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I ask your permission first and then I ask Ms. Djurdjevic's.

MS. DUFF:  We are all being so polite.  Yes, Mr. Shepherd, go ahead.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry to interrupt.

Did the ADMS project change from April 21, when you applied, to what was approved?

MS. ELEOSIDA:  What do you mean, what was approved?  Sorry, can you clarify what you mean by that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  NRCan funding was provided on an $8 million project.  Is that the same project that you applied for in April 2021?

MS. ELEOSIDA:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then you gave evidence that -- or not you, but Elexicon gave evidence that Whitby SmartGrid came up as part of the Sustainable Brooklin discussions in 2022, but the ADMS already planned for this stuff?

I just, I don't understand -- like, if you were planning the ADMS with all that stuff in it anyway, why would you not still do it?

MS. ELEOSIDA:  Maybe I can clarify here.

When -- at the time of Elexicon's initial submission for NRCan in April of 2021, I don't believe -- and Mr. Boudhar can confirm -- there was a determination made at that point in time around the implementation of VVO and FLISR, but at that time it was determined that ADMS as a software platform would be a scope that we would include in the NRCan submission.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So even if you didn't get ICM funding for the VVO and FLISR DA stuff, your original plan was that the ADMS would include that functionality for some time in the future, right?  That wouldn't change?

MS. ELEOSIDA:  Yes, the strategy of the intent would be there, but in terms of how it would be funded was not determined.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then you wouldn't have to give any money back to NRCan, because the original plan didn't include field devices anyway?

MS. ELEOSIDA:  The original strategy did include the implementation of those modules.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  I'm sorry to interrupt, Madam Chair.  I hope that's helpful.

MS. DUFF:  Fine.  That's fine.

Okay, would Board Staff please continue.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you.  So I'd now like to turn more specifically to discuss the Whitby SmartGrid, and my first sort of questions are, looking at the benefits, and from the technical conference we understand -- so Staff asked questions -- we understand that -- let me rephrase that.

Staff asked questions about, you know, what reliability savings you would expect as ADMS and FLISR are installed.

And I'll just take you to that section of the transcript, so at tab 5 of Staff's compendium.

And there you've indicated that, you know, there are no reliability savings until all of the A -- all of ADMS and FLISR is installed.

So I'd like to explore that a bit further and ask if, you know, if you installed a DSM and FLISR on some part of the system, would you agree that there would be some reliability improvement on that part of the system where this upgrade is made?  Like, if you put it on a pair of feeders, there would be some...

MR. THOMPSON:  Could I ask you to point out the section --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Sure --


MR. THOMPSON:  -- where it said there would be no benefits, just so I can get the language right?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Let me -- sorry, I thought I had the right tab number, but...

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, if it's not there, in the interests of time I can go to the next section --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yeah.

MR. THOMPSON:  So --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  In any event, yeah, we will find the reference, but, I mean, in general I assume you recall that your position, your view, is that, you know, there's no reliability savings until you have, you know, ADMS and FLISR installed across the entire system.  Is that your position?  Do we have that correct?

MR. VELLONE:  Is that rule 14 -- line 14 that's on the page in front of us?  Sorry, that looks like what Mr. Thompson said before.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.

MR. THOMPSON:  It certainly looks like what I believe.  So I would be willing to speak to the fact that there's no predictable reliability benefits and there is no basis for determining a reliability benefit.  You put a partial automation system out and you will get partial results.

In our project, we've proposed a fairly quick project, and so our assumption is that everything will sort of come together at the end.  At the beginning of the project, there will probably be no benefits and, with everything running in parallel, it will probably come on as a system and the benefits will start.

Now, we've been asked to consider hypothetical other project plans which we have not digested in any great detail, but the suggestion being that you could put a partial distribution automation system in the field and get partial benefits.  And it is reasonable to say you could get partial benefits.

It is surprisingly frustrating, having done this many times, because, as a salesman, we would recommend a distribution system, an automation system on a feeder, and then we'd sit around and wait for that feeder to have event and it would just never have them.

So, some events are random, like cars hitting poles.  And the large number says that you would get a proportionate response.  Ironically, other things that cause outages are things like flashing over insulators and, when you put an automation system on, what you do is you manage the impact of those outages and the fault location functionality the insulator and you fix it.  And then what happens is the next flashing over insulator is on a different feeder somewhere, and it will sit there flashing away and you can never find it.  And, at the end of the year, you've effectively mitigated one outage and a couple of others have run rampant until you were able to locate them somehow.

So on here it says the VVO system scales better, closer to proportionate, although with a lag which I discussed yesterday, but the reliability system is just very hard to predict, what the impact will be over a short term with a partial system.  Yes, there will be some unpredictable benefit.

The other weird thing is it is possible to put an automation system on a couple of feeders and have those be the only feeders you have troubles with.  All the outages could be there.  It is also not very likely, but it's possible.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  Okay.  So, you know, assuming that there are some -- you know, you can have partial -- if you implement and install this technology on part of the system, you would expect that there would be partial benefit.  And I'm not talking about, you know, just doing the spotty work, but, if you were to say, you know, "In this year, we are going to make these upgrades on this 20 percent of the system," and then sort of pace it each year, would you not sort of expect to see -- again, you are the engineers.  I am not.  But, if you plan things in a certain way that you say, "We are going to make these improvements to this percent of our system, in this year," we would expect to see that there is going to be some improvement there.  Would you agree with that general -- just general proposition?

MR. THOMPSON:  You would expect to see some improvement, but it is counterintuitive and there is no engineering basis for how you would pick a number.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  So if you had, for example, some -- okay, here's a very simple example.  You have an outage on a part of the system and you have some form of automated alternate feeder supply technology.  So, when you lose power to that one feeder, there is some reliability benefit if you have an automated system to, you know, provide alternate power.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  There is a big benefit in that scenario.  That's what --


MS. DJURDEVIC:  So, if we agree that there is some reliability improvement with, you know,  if you have some of these features -- maybe not everything, but we have some of these features.  And, you know, we've just agreed you can have partial benefits and, in some cases, you could have a big benefit if you are able to reroute supply automatically.  Then would it not make sense to account for this benefit in some way?

And I understand that Elexicon hasn't and, you know, that's your position, but would you agree that, generally, there are some benefits and, furthermore, would you agree to undertake to do some calculation of these benefits, even if only partial?

MR. THOMPSON:  I totally understand the intuitiveness of this, that if should just be able to say, if I put in a quarter into the system, I should get a quarter of the benefit.  I totally understand that that just sounds like it makes sense.  The problem is, it just doesn't end up working that way, time and time again.  So from an engineering -- the phrase I'm using is a careful one, which is that, from an engineering standpoint, there is no basis for picking a number.  There probably is a number, but there is no engineering basis for picking it.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  Okay, I'll just accept that.  You are the engineers, I'm not.  But, if you had part of your system but you had the worst feeders that, you know, chronically failing and, you know -- sounds like my street, in fact; I'm not in your service area, but another one -- and, you know, you singled out those worst-performing feeders and you made these improvements, you could say, "Here are 500 customers who are now not having chronic outages of multiple hours."  Could you not assign some benefit to that?

MR. THOMPSON:  So there are some types of outages where that would apply, but a typical utility outage is a random event; like a bird on a wire or a car hitting a pole or just [audio dropout] flashing over.  And what happens with your automation system is you mitigate those initial events, but then you fix them.  And now you're exposed -- so the utility will develop a worst-performing feeder's list.  Right?  Like, who's kidding who?  There is a list, and those are the feeders that you are going to put your automation system on.  But the expectation is that, next year, you know, you will continue, and you don't actually see in that first year whether you got the impact on those feeders or not.  Quite often, you just don't.  Quite often, the outages just -- so if a car hits a pole here, that doesn't mean a car is going to hit a pole there again next year.  Right?  It could be anywhere on the system.

So I understand the intuitiveness of what you are saying, but it is just picking a number out of the air, to pick a number.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  Okay.  I'd like to turn to tab 6 of Staff's compendium.  And this is a spreadsheet, and so I'll just -- and, in particular, there are several tabs to this, but I'm looking at page 107.  So this is the tab of that worksheet.  It's called Elexicon Updated Reliability Worksheet.  And I'll just kind of ask you to put your finger there, because then I'll next take you to tab 7 of Staff's compendium.  So this is the same Excel sheet.

First of all, tab 6 is what you provided in response to an undertaking at the technical conference.  That was JT1.21.  Okay?  And what Staff wanted to explore in the technical conference with this model is an understanding of the net present value of the Whitby SmartGrid.  And Staff wanted to test for different net present value scenarios.  So we ask you to advise whether you agree with the assumptions in Staff's model, and Mr. Mandyam gave that undertaking, and so what we have at tab 6 is basically a -- I think it was Staff's model that Elexicon agreed with.

Subsequently, what Staff has done at tab 7, so, again, same Excel sheet, but we have added a couple of numbers.  So this is at -- this is page 112.  Okay, so this is, again, the same -- so, at tab 6, you do not have -- you have not filled in some of the information, which Staff has done at tab 7.  And this is about the option 3 scenario and the savings and the net present value savings.  So I don't know what we have off the screen now.  Is this tab 6?  This is tab 7.  Okay, it need to go further down, the amounts.  Sorry, I know spreadsheets... So, if you go further down to option 3, so what staff has added at tab 7 -- no, I'm not seeing it on the screen, yet. I wish -- okay, we do have it on the screen.

In any event, what Staff has laid out here for your consideration is sort of a linear benefit.  That, if you add something each year, there is some benefit.  So we'd like to -- even if you don't agree with the principle that, you know, if you add X percent per year, you're going to get some value, do you at least agree with Staff's calculation?

MR. MANDYAM:  Ms. Djurdjevic, I think, in looking at it since you gave it to us last week, I do see one item-per-year consideration that I think needs to be  altered in the model itself.  If I -- sorry for this detail, but in column 2, all the way down 2025, when we get to option 3, I think you've -- Staff has apportioned a 20 percent benefit in that column, and then in compendium 3 they've apportioned a 20 -- a 40 percent benefit being accrued in column 3, and then 60 percent in column 4, and 80 percent in column 5.

Am I correct in that understanding?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes.

MR. MANDYAM:  So all of that would mean that some, you know, 20 percent is in-service in 2025 of the assets, 40 percent in 2026, 60 percent in-service in 2027, et cetera.

Now, if we go to the back end or the -- this is basically a 27-year net present value calculation -- if we go to years 20 -- I haven't done it myself, but if you go to years '23, '4, '5, '6, and' 7, these assets should be going out of service on a proportional basis for your consideration, because there's -- so in 2050, or column 27, those values should be down -- reduced by, I think -- 80 percent?

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  80 percent from last year.

MR. MANDYAM:  And then column 26, which is reflecting year 2049, should reflect a reduction of 60 percent.  And then column 25, which is 2048, should reflect a reduction of 40 percent, et cetera, until you get back to the hundred-year mark, or 100 percent.

And I think -- so that's one mechanical change, I think, that should be done for this model, option 3, because at a high level if you are putting items in-service in 2025, they should go out of service 27 years later under this net present value calculation.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Well, thank you for going through that.

We just wanted to, you know, go through those figures with you and, you know, Staff just wanted to demonstrate, you know, it's passed out its thinking that a phased approach could have a higher net present value, and --


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  I don't know --


MR. MANDYAM:  I could speak to that, certainly.  I was just going to say, I'm not sure -- sorry, somebody is muted.  Okay.  Thank you.  Ms. Djurdjevic, I'm not sure that it would calculate -- I haven't done the math myself.

I'm not sure that the net present value, net of 35.58 million, would still be the same value if we did that correction that I posed for Staff's consideration.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Well, thank you for those clarifications, and the rest is -- we just want to get that on the record so we're not bringing up anything.

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  You already got you (inaudible)?

MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, I was trying to get in --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Oh, yeah, sorry.

MR. THOMPSON:  -- short life frustrating stonewalling on whether that should be 1.3 or not.  What I found when I did that correction is that changed the order of the options, so I think it's an important calculation to get right, and the reason that if I was going to nitpick I would push everything back one year, because, as my discussion with Mr. Shepherd yesterday, if you put a VVO system in and you get it running in October, you don't generate any benefit that year, so everything's a year behind.

And again, if you ask me to give you an engineering justification for the reliability numbers, I wouldn't be able to do it, but the VVO numbers aren't bad, as long as they are a year lagged.

But none of that matters, I don't think.  I think when you fix the math you'll get a different order.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Thank you for those responses.

Moving now to tab 8 of Staff compendium, which is part of your DSP.  And the excerpt there that I'm looking at is table 5.4-18.

Okay.  So I want to understand, you know, one of the rationales for the Whitby SmartGrid is that it will improve reliability.

So if the Whitby SmartGrid is approved as you propose, some system renewal or system service projects in the DSP could -- could they be delayed while still achieving the same level of reliability?

For example, if you implement the Whitby SmartGrid, it seems that there will be less of an urgency to replace aging cable, as the, you know, SmartGrid will allow for greater switching capability.

We agree with that?

MR. BOUDHAR:  So when we talk about improving reliability, the issue that obviously the Whitby SmartGrid will improve that.  Keeping in mind that the system renewal, investment category, addresses that assets that are deteriorating because of condition, so it's not because of reliability.

Now, when we talk about system service, investment category, here we are addressing specific locations and specific feeders or assets that we see already deteriorating numbers.

So we're basically addressing them through this investment category.  So the Whitby SmartGrid has nothing to do with the existing system service projects that we have in a DSP or even in the next few years.

MR. THOMPSON:  If I could extend that into the distribution system analysis.  The DA system will kick in and reduce the impact of the outage of the cable failure, but you still have a failed cable in the ground; you have to replace it.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Right, so -- I get that, but, you know, it would seem that there would still be some overlap between work that you anticipate -- that you need -- that you've identified that you need to do, you know, as part of your DSP, and then -- which could overlap with some work that you are doing as part of the SmartGrid.

So for example, if you need to install a new pole to attach, you know, a switch as part of the SmartGrid project, and it's next to a pole that's in bad condition, so would you not at the same time remove, you know, the bad pole or bad equipment and install the switch on, you know, on that new pole?

So, you know, there's a synergy there, so you're not doing, you know, the replacement work that you need, like the system service project, completely separately from work that you are doing as part of SmartGrid.

You would try to schedule them and could do it in a way that, you know, you are not having to send out trucks and people duplicate times.

So in getting -- like, have you looked at a potential where there is overlap and, you know, some synergies that you could save cost and some aspects of the work in the DSP may not be necessary or that could be combined with the SmartGrid activities, and vice versa?

I guess what I'm asking is, have you given that any thought or are you just looking at these as completely separate things?  Work on the DSP is just going to be completely separate from what you are doing, you know, as part of SmartGrid project?

MR. BOUDHAR:  So the way we looked at it is two separate investments.  Again -- so if we compare the Whitby SmartGrid, we'll have to compare to the -- or analyze that based on the system service investment, not system renewal.

Again, even though like you mentioned, yes, it could be true that is a possibility if, let's say, we're replacing an asset because of the Whitby SmartGrid project, we could be replacing an old or a deteriorated asset on the Whitby area.

That analysis has not been done but, again, we have to keep in mind that the investment that we put into the system service and the DSP is to address issues that we have and needs that we have from our current system.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So looking at another example, for example, voltage conversion, as I understand you do this -- when you -- when you are doing conversion you're converting sections at a time; is that correct?

MR. BOUDHAR:  That is correct.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yeah, and so while you're doing conversion of a given section, could you not also at the same time install the SmartGrid components?  So you can do the two tasks, you know, at the same time?

MR. BOUDHAR:  So the voltage conversions that we have in our DSP is addressing Belleville, Port Hope, Gravenhurst in the future, but not Whitby.  Whitby area is all 13.8 and 44 kV system where we don't have to convert any voltage there.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  If you could turn to tab 9 of Staff's compendium.  This is another excerpt from your Distribution System Plan and I'm looking at table 5.4-19.   And this table provide a comparison of past and future system service spending.  Right?  One of the programs you have listed in this table is system reliability improvement programs.

Now, in the business case, like, for your DSP, you contemplated making improvements which include -- and again, in advance I apologize for the nomenclature, and we'll spell them afterward, but, for example, Scada-Mate reclosers, that's S-C-A-D-A Mate; something called IntelliRupter switches, that's I-N-T-E-L-L-I-R-U-P-T-E-R switches; and false circuit indicators.  Now, all of these devices, which are in your Distribution System Plan, are also included in the Whitby SmartGrid project, are they not?

MR. BOUDHAR:  That is correct.  Some of them, yes.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  So why would you not redirect the funds for this equipment from the DSP to the SmartGrid project?

MR. BOUDHAR:  Again, what's in the DSP is to address system conditions and system service for specific locations that we see and need for those investments.  Whitby SmartGrid is a separate project to address the reliability in Whitby itself, and many other, as what was provided on the evidence.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  So this equipment that is in the distribution system plan, this is for other than Whitby?  Like, you're saying just completely different, there is no overlap there.  Is that what you're saying?

MR. BOUDHAR:  It is Elexicon territory, so it's including all of our territories.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  Okay, I'm confused.  You've just said that they -- I've asked:  Are these part of Whitby SmartGrid as well as part of your distribution system plan?  And I thought I heard you say, no, this is for other areas and so there is no overlap.  Are you now saying something different?

MR. BOUDHAR:  Sorry, you are referring to the devices that you mentioned, where they are located?

MS. DJURDEVIC:  I am.

MR. BOUDHAR:  Is that what your question is?

MS. DJURDEVIC:  Well, the question is, like -- we're just trying to get at if there any sort of duplication here and whether they could be moved from the distribution system plan to the SmartGrid project.  But, if you are saying that Whitby SmartGrid is in Whitby and this equipment identified in the system plan is for a whole other area, then that's a different story.

MR. BOUDHAR:  So the --

MS. DJURDEVIC:  I don't understand, if that's what you're saying.

MR. BOUDHAR:  No.  So the distribution system plan is a plan to address concerns for specific areas, including Whitby, but the Whitby SmartGrid project is a different project that has nothing to do with the investment in our system service.  Does that answer your question.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  Not entirely, but I'll move on.  I guess I could --


MR. VETSIS:  Maybe, Ms. Djurdjevic, another way of phrasing that is like, you know, that the drivers of the different categories of investments that you're talking about are completely different.  So as Mr. Boudhar talked, about he mentioned system renewal, and the driver for system renewal is asset condition.  The Whitby SmartGrid is not going to address -- is not directly addressing asset condition.  It is moving forward our system and adding automation.  Similarly, these system service investments are to target very specific challenges, specific areas of our system.  They're not to add automation and add incremental capabilities similar to the Whitby SmartGrid.

And so, when we take a look at these investments, the likelihood of overlap, in our view, is unlikely, given the different drivers of investments.  But, as Mr. Boudhar said on Friday, typically, the capital planning is a live thing that's done year over year, where we prioritize our investments based on the known condition information.  And, to the extent that there were opportunities to leverage those circumstances that you talked about in SmartGrid, what it would do is it give us the opportunity to now address other assets of poor condition instead, and basically reprioritize.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  Thank you, Mr. Vetsis.  What I'm getting from this discussion is that the SmartGrid project and the distribution system plan are not well coordinated.  And, you know, really, we don't know.  I mean, it may be all clear to you, but, to the rest of us, we don't know where there is potential for overlap and where there's potential for, you know, redirecting some work from the system plan to SmartGrid.  And so what we'd like to ask is whether Elexicon could --

MR. VETSIS:  Perhaps we could take you to PWU 7, where there was a response there where we did look at potential deferrals.  And I think the conclusion, when looking at the needs of the system and the needs of the drivers of our investments, was that, you know, we are unable to defer or modify these other investments in our system.

So I think that we have talked a little bit about that.  We also provided SEC 13 and we talked about the ongoing reprioritization movements of investment over time throughout our system, you know, challenges that we've experienced with respect to COVID, inflation, supply chain constraints.  And so I think the conclusion is that, in reviewing our plan, the overlap between these items is minimal, if at all.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  Thank you for pointing us to those references, and we'll be certain to review them when we are doing our submissions, but I think what we would suggest to you, what would make everything a lot simpler for everyone, is if Elexicon would provide a revised and updated distribution system plan.   Will you be in a position -- will you be able to do that by 2025?

MR. VETSIS:  2025?  I think we talked a little bit about that yesterday, and just the practicalities of what it means to do a DSP.  A DSP is a massive undertaking.  It involves studies, it involves customer engagement, and the current standard is one of multiple phases.  Our DSP, in our current regulatory framework, is due to be filed for 2026 onwards and Elexicon will commit to -- will ensure it meets that compliment.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  Okay.  So, Madam Chair and Panel, I am finished my questions on this topic and will be moving on to something slightly different.  I don't know if this is when people prefer to take a break, or I can start on my next section.  I'm in your hands.

MS. DUFF:  No, I think it's an appropriate time to take a break.  We'll take 10 minutes till 25 to 4:00.

Now, in terms of OEB Staff, we had quite a bit of discussion regarding your original undertaking regarding the ADMS, to have the ICM numbers.  You heard the conversation as well as I did.  I'm just going back to you and if you could advise after the break whether that's something you still want to pursue, in terms of asking the witnesses to provide those numerical calculations.  Okay?  Understood?

MS. DJURDEVIC:  Yes, will do.  I'll discuss with Staff during the break and report back.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, thank you very much.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 3:22 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:38 p.m.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Vellone, you had your camera on.  Was there something you wanted to say?

MR. VELLONE:  No, Presiding Commissioner.  I was just letting Ms. Djurdjevic know I was here and we're ready.

MS. DUFF:  That's good.  Okay.  Please continue.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you, Commissioner Duff.

So to pick up where we left off before the break, the Panel had asked whether Staff would like to insist on its request for an undertaking that was refused earlier, and I've conferred with Staff, and we do wish to insist on the undertaking, and I'll just explain the rationale.

The ICM model was refiled March 23rd, and the model includes already -- it already includes the ADMS component, and so all Staff is asking is that Elexicon refile that model and show just, you know, the ADMS components as they were applied for when Elexicon applied for NRCan funding in 2021.

So in other words, you know, take the model you already have, remove all the non-ADMS components, and update it so it's for the 2024 year, because it's going to be in-service then, and that's what we would like filed on the record.  And we'd like an undertaking.

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Both rate zones.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Oh, sorry.  And for both the Whitby and Veridian rate zones.

MS. DUFF:  Is there still a refusal on behalf of the utility to provide that undertaking?

MR. VELLONE:  Just before we get there, do the witnesses understand the scope of the request?  Start there.

MR. VETSIS:  My understanding is we're just taking the 43 mil, subtracting out everything but the 8 -- or, sorry, the 4 net and filing the model for 2024.

MS. DUFF:  Are there any benefits associated with just the ADMS at all?  Can you quantify any benefits?

MR. MANDYAM:  Quantify?  Ms. Duff, you are talking benefit measurements relative to the reliability and EBO that we've set out in our evidence or --


MS. DUFF:  We can just stay with the NPV of the costs.

MR. MANDYAM:  We will include a narrative associate -- to accompany that.

MS. DUFF:  I just -- yes, thank you.  I mean, I would appreciate it, as I know that then would Staff, as saying, to the extent that you are able to identify and list -- and I took notes at various times during the hearing regarding what benefits ADMS alone provides, and I realize it was a trunk of a tree, but there were a list of things, and if you're able to quantify them or again just list them, I think it would be nice to have it all consolidated together.  And they're willing to do that.  Do you want to assign an undertaking?

MR. ZLAHTIC:  Excuse me, Commissioner Duff, sorry for piping --


MS. DUFF:  Oh, yes.

MR. ZHLATIC:  -- in.  I think what I heard you ask was what would the benefits be of building the ADMS system, you know, with the NRCan funding, the components funded -- sorry, the ADMS system components that are funded by NRCan, and then what would the associated benefits be?  I just want to be clear just, that's what you were asking.

MS. DUFF:  If they're able to provide that, yes.  I think I did get a signal of yes from Mr. Mandyam.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  Okay.  Sorry for that.

MS. DUFF:  No, that's fine.  Now is the time to ask.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So just to wrap up, we -- I understand we have --


MS. DUFF:  Did you give it a number?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Undertaking J2.5, and that is to file the IC -- refile the ICM model with the ADMS components for the Whitby and Veridian rate zones for the year 2024.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.5(b):  TO REFILE THE ICM MODEL WITH THE ADMS COMPONENTS FOR THE WHITBY AND VERIDIAN RATE ZONES FOR THE YEAR 2024.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Vellone, you had your camera on?  Okay.

MR. VELLONE:  As long as the witnesses understand.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So with that, I'll move on to a slightly different line of questions, so I'd like to turn to tab 10 of Staff compendium, and this is Appendix B from your application, page 9, looking at the sentence at line 11 of this page, where you state that the Whitby SmartGrid and Sustainable Brooklin projects are anticipated to provide an annual benefit to Whitby rate-zone customers of 0.673 million, which is primarily comprised of the following benefits and so forth.

Now, putting aside the benefits that homeowners in the North Brooklin development would specifically receive, can Elexicon provide a dollar-value estimate of the benefit that would be received by all Whitby rate-zone -- rate-payers from the Brooklin ICM?

MR. MANDYAM:  Sorry, from the -- Ms. Djurdjevic, from the Sustainable Brooklin project?  You are asking for the benefit associated with the Sustainable Brooklin project?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Sorry, the -- yes, specifically the Brooklin ICM.

I understand, you know, what I just quoted you referred to both the Whitby SmartGrid and the Brooklin project.

My question is specifically only with respect to the Brooklin ICM and what the dollar-value estimate of the benefit would be for all of Whitby ratepayers from the Brooklin project.

MR. VETSIS:  Just give me a moment to find a reference, Ms. Djurdjevic.

Ms. Djurdjevic, if I could take you to SEC 08.  I mean, ultimately the benefit of the Sustainable Brooklin project is as a community with a potential for high DER uptake, which would allow us to credibly pursue asset deferrals, and what we have here in this table is the NPV of different scenarios of asset deferrals, so ultimately the benefit achieved by customers will depend on the cost of the assets that we're deferring.  In this instance here we have an example of a transformer station.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  So other than the -- and I think that transmission or transformer station was $40 million.  Other than potential to defer that project, are there any other quantifiable benefits?

MR. MANDYAM:  For Sustainable Brooklin?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes.

MR. MANDYAM:  Well, not from the Brooklin line extension.  However, the North Brooklin community, if the Board -- the OEB approves the Whitby SmartGrid, the North Brooklin community will benefit from the same energy savings and customer reliability improvements that the rest of the Whitby geography and service territory would benefit from, because the Whitby SmartGrid is to be installed and service -- and put in-service in all of the Whitby service territory, which includes North Brooklin.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  So I did hear you, you know, mention the benefits that the residents of this North Brooklin community would experience, and my question was specifically excluding them.  There would be benefits for them if everything plays out.

But other than that community, for the rest of the Whitby ratepayers, we're trying to determine a quantifiable, like, dollar benefit for all the other ratepayers, and the one -- the only one example or the item that we've heard about is the potential deferral for a period of time of the $40 million station.

And my question is simply:  Is there any other quantifiable benefit, other than that station?

MR. VETSIS:  The ability to defend -- or not defend, defer investment is -- and how do we pursue those opportunities is the primary benefit, and those deferrals impact and benefit everybody.

MR. MANDYAM:  There is the secondary benefit of GHG reductions that would come from DER deployment and put in service potentially up to 700 homes per year.  There is the upstream generation that would be offset from the local capacity, or the local production of electricity by these potential 11,000 homes.  That's another -- but that's a long-term, up to 20-year benefit, Ms. Djurdjevic.  Those are two others.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  Yes.  Thank you for noting those.  Again, my sort of focus right now is on the quantifiable benefit of, you know, deferred investment.  So I'd like to turn to tab 11 of Staff's compendium, which is your interrogatory response to Staff 19, part (c).  And your response for paragraph (c), you explained how you arrived at the expected benefit from deferring the transmission station investment.

And, in that response, you indicate that the net present value of a one-year deferral using a 3 percent discount rate is $390,000.   You see -- I've read that correctly?  I think so, but, hearing no objection --

MR. VETSIS:  Yes, yes.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  Right.  And then, if the deferral is for five years, the net present value of the benefit to ratepayers is estimated to be $9.94 million, using an 8 percent discount rate.  Have I read that right?

MR. VETSIS:  Yes.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  So our question is why you are using an 8 percent discount rate for a five-year deferral and  not the 3 percent used for a one-year deferral.

MR. MANDYAM:  Ms. Djurdjevic, I think we were providing the bookends of savings, you know, picking the highest discount rate at 8 and the longest time frame, giving you the most maximum potential savings.  So it's just as simple as that.

MR. VETSIS:  And, to be clear, Ms. Djurdjevic, those are the bookends of the table we just showed you, like, one minute ago.  So SEC 8, table 1, the response you just took us to, the bookends -- they are the bookends of this table.

MS. DUFF:  I have question.  Can I interject at this point, please?

MS. DJURDEVIC:  Please.

MS. DUFF:  It was the METSCO answer that that was given about, I don't know, an hour ago.  And it was saying that, I'm sorry, it is their table that has a one-year, three-year, and five-year deferral, the 79 percent.

MR. MANDYAM:  Table 15, Commissioner Duff, in the METSCO report.

MS. DUFF:  I can't believe that's not committed to my memory already.

MR. MANYDAM:  You should have had it there, come on.

MS. DUFF:  All right.  Just to make sure I understand, and this was the questioning from Mr. Daube, when I see 79 percent or 9,146 units, okay, what I'm trying to understand is what it means by NPV.  Because what I understood from this table -- this could be any time.  Like, at 700 houses a year, it's going to take 13 years to build 9,146 units.  That would be a 100 percent attachment rate.

What am I getting wrong here when I look at this?  I want to make sure that I understand this table and how it applies to North Brooklin, because then the next question is:  What does net present value -- what is times zero?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  I'm trying to understand what your question, is Commissioner Duff.

MS. DUFF:  Let's start in little pieces.  In this table, it says, to have a five-year deferral, I need to have -- in the 50-50 mixed infrastructure, I need to have 9,146 units.  Related to North Brooklin, wouldn't that take 13 years, to get 9,146 units?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  Yes.  So the percentages that are being calculated here in this table relate to the year that the capacity is needed, according to the load forecast.  So it -- and, actually, there are a few different scenarios, but, if we flip back to table 12 of the load forecast, we'll see the capacity analysis for a scenario set forth by the Region of Durham.  And then table 13 is setting out what we've call Brooklin low, which is the low projection of the developers, and table 14 is Brooklin high, which as high projection of developers.  So we've taken, actually, the Brooklin low scenario, which is the table 13, which is the most conservative, but they are quite similar.  As you'll see, the capacity constraints are more or less (inaudible) from the same year.

MS. DUFF:  So could you just spell it out for me:  How many years will it take to reach that five-year deferral in that 50-50 mix scenario?  How many years will that take?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  So, if we look on the right-most column here on the screen, in table 13, that shows the total load for Ajax, Pickering, and Whitby regions based on the forecast.  And that total load is being compared to the total capacity that is available at the transmission station.  And so, in the year 2038, the table here is the point at which the capacity is being exceeded, considering the total capacity of the whole region.  So, when we talk about a 1-, 3-, 5-year deferral, it's in relation to that capacity for those numbers of houses built in 2038.  That's when the system is projected to exceed the capacity.

MS. DUFF:  So 2038 is, like, times zero, then, for that?  That's the year that I that I would be deferring --

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  So, in the context of doing a calculation of benefits of deferring capital, the year zero would be 2038.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  So one more question, then.  Getting back to the last table that OEB Staff was talking to you about, the net present value -- sorry, Mr. Ott, you are doing a fabulous job -- I don't understand net present value.  What's time zero here, 2038?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  So, for example, in the case of a one-year deferral, it would be the difference between building a TS in 2038 versus building a TS in 2039.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  And that's a one-year deferral.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  That was my only question, but I really appreciate the answer.

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  You're very welcome.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  Thank you, Commissioner Duff.  And this may be related to what I'm about to ask next, and I'm sure that Commissioner Duff had a much better understanding, a better way of articulating it, but going back to tab 11.  This was the response to the IR, section (c).  Do we have that?  Right.  So, you know -- and, again, how -- the question is about how the next present value is calculated for a one-year versus a five-year deferral.  And, in this response, can you clarify which years are on either side of the deferral period?  Like, for example, is it five years from 2023 to 2028?  Or are you starting from 2038 backwards?  I'm just not clear on what the bookends are for, let's say, the five-year deferral period, when we're talking about a net present value of $9.9 million.  Can you clarify that for us, please.

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  Yes.  So, to clarify, as stated, the one-year deferral is 2038 to 2039, the three-year deferral is 2038 to 2041, and the five-year deferral is 2038 to 2043.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So if you are starting at 2038 and looking at one-year deferral back, so you are talking about a $390,000 avoided cost 25 years from now.

Again -- and I don't know if -- I'm sure you don't have an answer off the top of your head.  I certainly don't.

But isn't that a relatively trivial amount of savings, you know, compared to $26 million in 2024 or 2025?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  Apologies, what do you mean by "relatively trivial"?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, your response is that the value -- the net present value of a one-year deferral -- so, you know, you won't need to put that transmission station in 2038.  It is deferred by a year.  And the value of that is $390,000, if I'm understanding this correctly.

My question is, you know, how that compares to a $26 million expenditure on the Brooklin line in today's dollars?  It just, it doesn't seem like a lot of money.

That's why I'm asking, like, how is that -- what's your understanding -- your rationale?  Why does this make sense?

MR. VETSIS:  Sorry, I'm misunderstanding, Ms. Djurdjevic.  This is about deferring a transmission station which costs $40 million.  That 300,000 is just the discounting the value of that tremendous investment back a significant number of years.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  When -- okay.  You know, I'm going to leave this at this point.  I think the evidence on the record is what it is, and I'll move on.

And if you could turn to tab 12 of Staff's compendium.  And this is Appendix B-4 from your application, and I'd like you to flip forward to page 24 of this.  This is METSCO's peak load forecast.

If you could flip to page 24 and -- yes, table 15.

Okay.  And above the table, if you look under the heading that says "assumptions", on the very first -- I'm sorry, under the table, sorry, under the table, I'd like you to look at the sentence that says, "Rooftop solar alone cannot reliably defer capacity constraints beyond one year, since it is not dispatchable without an associated BESS", which means battery storage.

So my question is, by the term "dispatchable", we're talking about the ability of Elexicon or a third party on behalf of Elexicon having control of that DER asset; is that correct?  Is that your understanding?

Do I understand correctly, I should say?  That is what we mean by the term "dispatchable", that Elexicon controls it, or a party on its behalf.

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  No, not -- sorry, no, not quite.  Yes, exactly.

Someone is controlling it, not necessarily Elexicon.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Right.  So absent all of the solar installations being combined with a battery and Elexicon having control over all of these combined DER assets in the North Brooklin development, we are really looking at just a one-year deferral, or perhaps no reliable deferral potential at all; is that right?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  Sorry, I didn't catch your question.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, in order to defer an asset like the transmission station, you would need a large number of DER-enabled customers that you can dispatch, right, so, you know, that you can -- you dispatch that capacity from DER-enabled customers so then you can defer having to make the investment in the transmission station, right?  I mean, that's sort of the rationale for this concept; would you agree?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  Yes, so as shown in the table here in the first column, where you only have rooftop solar, meaning you don't have dispatchability or control, that after the one-year deferral you really can't do much to defer the load, whereas in the third column, when you have rooftop solar with battery energy storage system as a combined solution, then you see that you are able to defer it in one three-year for five years.

So, yes, the control is the key, hence the DERMS and the DER management system, sorry.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And the issue whether you're able to -- whether this generated energy from the Brooklin homes, whether that is controllable by Elexicon is going to depend in large part on the outcome of your future application to the OEB, the DER-enabling program; is that right?

MR. VETSIS:  I think the DER-enabling program, if successful, would certainly assist in the uptake.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Right.  So if, for example, hypothetically you did not pursue the DER-enabling program for whatever reason, or delayed it, the -- if you had this potential energy from the DER potential in the North Brooklin area, you wouldn't be able to do anything with it to achieve your goals and your benefits if you didn't also pursue the DER-enabling program.  Like, the two are -- what I'm trying to say again is that the two are sort of interdependent.

MR. MANDYAM:  I think the pace of -- excuse me, Ms. Djurdjevic, I think the pace of DER proliferation in Whitby service territory would increase, should increase, with the DER-enabled program.

That's the goal of Elexicon.

There is -- I think all the individuals on this -- at this oral hearing will agree that there is a pace of DER and the solar plus battery general installations happening within Ontario.

This -- our goal is to use the DER-enabling program to accelerate that to try to achieve this basic extension of the date from which infrastructure has to be put in-service.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  All right.  But --


MR. VETSIS:  And I would also, for what it's worth, Ms. Djurdjevic, and then I'll pass it off to my colleague, Mr. Thompson, just after, I think these types of behaviours that we're talking about in the DER enablement plan are leveraging DERs and non-wires alternatives are aligned with what the OEB's expectations are what utilities should be doing regardless, so our DER-enabling program and any application we would file would be aligned with the policy objectives here in the sector, you know, and Mr. Thompson had some thoughts as well he wanted to share.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yeah, I'd just say that we're excited about the DER-enabling program and we think it's how utilities are going to operate in the future, but absent that there's other programs already underway.

The Ontario government is talking about changing time-of-use rates that will encourage --


[Reporter appeals]

MR. THOMPSON:  My apologies.  I'll start from, there are many other programs that will encourage people to put DERs on their system such that they would be dispatched are available during peak periods, and some of that is time-of-use rates, and an example is the provincial government is looking at extremely low rates at night and higher rates in the day, and all of that will count towards these totals.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay, if we could go to tab 12 of Staff's compendium.  Oh, this is the same document we're still on.  Okay.  So go up to the top, under the heading "assumptions", and the first one is -- you know, these are the assumptions that are used to estimate load deferral that would result from the Brooklin project, right?  That's what these assumptions are.

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  Yes, that is correct.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And the first one of these is the nameplate rating of rooftop solar panel is at 10 kilowatts.

And Staff explored this issue a bit at the technical conference, and Elexicon's evidence was that a 10-kilowatt rooftop solar number is the average value of a medium-sized solar installation; do you recall that?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  I said the word "typical," but, yes that is what we use.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  Okay, can we turn to tab 13 of Staff's compendium. This is the Brooklin Landowners Group response to undertaking JT2.13.  And, in this undertaking, Landowners Group was asked to confirm how many kilowatts of solar panels can be installed on each home or unit.  And, in their response, they state:
"Assuming one side of the roof contains six typical solar panels, then approximately 1 to 2 kilowatts of power can be generate on sunny days for typical singles, semis, and, in some cases, townhouses."

And I trust that you would agree with me that, you know, 1 to 2 kilowatts, according to the Landowners Group, is considerably less than the 10 kilowatts that Elexicon is relying on in its calculations.  We can agree there's a difference there.  Right?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  So I also reviewed the response that was given by Brooklin Landowners Group, and so I'll just read it here for everyone's benefit.  It says:
"Assuming one side of the roof contains six typical solar panels, then approximately 1 to 2 kilowatts of power can be generated on sunny days."

And it goes on and on.  So it doesn't say that six solar panels is a maximum, or an average, or typical.  It is just saying it's an assumption.  So six solar panels would get you around 1.5 to 2.5 kilowatts, so that part is approximately correct, but it also only requires somewhere along the lines of 100 square feet of space to fit six solar panels.  And so what we talked about during the technical hearing, day 1 of the transcript, was that, for a 10-kilowatt solar panel installation, you would require about 600 square feet of space.  So space, you know, not being a huge constraint.

Actually, today, we have a new Exhibit A 2.4, which was filed, which is the Solar Ready Guidelines.  And, in those guidelines, they show the minimum size of the solar panel, minimum, to be 120 square feet, so that would be larger than what is shown here from the DLGI interrogatory.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  Well -- sorry, I didn't mean to cut you off.

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  My last point is just that, when we are talking about the sizing of the solar panels, if we take it all the way back to table 15 of the Load Forecast Report, that constraint is driving column 1, which has the rooftop solar only, whereas in the third column, which is rooftop solar with battery energy storage system, the constraint is driven by the size of the battery, not the size of the solar panel.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  Okay, thanks for clarifying that.  And, just talking about, you know, solar panels, I guess my question is:  You know, the builder, the developer, would you agree that they have, or should have, a good understanding of how many rooftop solar panels are feasible, you know, on the properties that they're developing?  Would you expect them to have some understanding of that?  Like, you're not taking the -- I assume Elexicon is not taking the position that the landowners' assumption about the 1 to 2 kilowatts is completely wrong in some way.  That's not your view.  Right?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  Ms. Djurdjevic, I would point out that Mr. Cory was on the stand on Friday and could have potentially spoken to this, but my understanding is that we are talking about the construction and build-out of an entire community over the next 14 to 20 years.  We're not talking about a particular subdivision or a particular house that's being installed, so there are going to be different designs.  And I think all that BLGI is conforming is that, yes, the designs can support solar installations, although the specifics of roofing and spacing and how much space there might be would not be known at this time.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  I'll just finish up on this point and then I'm gone, but let's say that the actual generation potential of rooftop solar panels is closer to the 1 to 2 kilowatts that is the Landowners Group said.  If that's the case, and all other things being equal, that means the deferral period for the transmission station is likely to be a shorter period, rather than a longer period.  And that would be because, you know, you can't assume that there will be enough capacity from the rooftop solar and you will probably need that transmission station sooner than later.  Would you agree with that proposition?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  Sorry.  What was your question, Ms. Djurdjevic?  I didn't catch it.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  Well, if there is less -- if the rooftop solar can actually generate less than the 10 kilowatts that Elexicon's proposal is based on, then you can't assume that you are going to have a certain amount of generation and capacity from these DER-enabled properties.  So you will need that sort of typical transmission station, that kind of equipment, sooner than later.  Like, you won't be able to count on deferring it for, you know, five years.  It is more likely to be a one-year period.  Do you follow my thinking there?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  Well, I disagree.  It says -- as I just stated and as we talked about this morning, as well -- the column 3 of table 15, the potential to defer capacity, is determined by the constraints of the batteries and not the constraints of the solar panels.  And so, really, that's what we were talking about just now, that the controllability and  dispatchability is key for enabling DERs.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  Would you agree with me that there are a lot of "ifs."  You know, if the homeowners take up the DER-enabled equipment, if is there a favourable time of use rate, if the ultra overnight, if your DER enablement application, which we haven't seen yet, if all of these things come to pass, then these benefits will be realized.  And all I am suggesting is that, if these things don't come to pass, if, you know, you only have half the amount of solar generation that you anticipate, your deferral period for that transmission station is going to be a shorter period than a longer one.  And, with that, I would suggest to you that the benefits of that deferral are going to be lower than hoped for.  Would you agree, at least, with that general proposition?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  No.  As stated, it is the capacity of the batteries that is the constraining factor, not the capacity of the solar panel.  As we see in the first column, even with 10-kilowatt solar, you could only achieve a one-year deferral.  You need to have the dispatchability and controllability of the battery energy storage system in order to effectively defer capacity and effectively provide enough capacity and reliability on the grid.



MS. DJURDEVIC:  Okay.  I understand your position, and I'm going to just finish by asking if, by way of undertaking, take this table 15 and update it to show the penetration rates required if you have rooftop solar panel configuration of 2 kilowatts, rather than 10 kilowatts.  What does this all look like?  Would you undertake to updated that table on that basis?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  Again, we talked about this this morning, during one of the cross-examinations.  The column 3, which shows the deferrals, is not going to change depending on the amount of rooftop solar.

It is only that first column that is being driven by rooftop solar.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay, and I don't mean to be boring about this, but, you know, the assumptions, on the very top of that page, your -- your calculations is based on assumptions, including, number one, that rooftop solar panels are 10 kilowatts, and I ask you with your -- if you'd be willing to consider if the potential -- if it actually is only 2 kilowatts, what does that calculation, that -- what is the DER penetration that is required at that -- and would you be willing to take that away as an undertaking and provide an updated table 15?

MR. THOMPSON:  If I could offer, the challenge here is this is [audio dropout] if the battery is a 10 kilowatt-hour battery and you have a 2-kilowatt solar panel, then it just takes four-and-a-half hours to charge the battery.

Nothing changes on the battery.  The battery's effectiveness is the same.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So you are unable to do the table 15 update that I've requested or are refusing to, to clarify?

MR. VELLONE:  Can I just confer with my witnesses, Ms. Djurdjevic, briefly?  Can you do what is being requested, Mr. Martin-Sturmey?  Just change the assumption and rewrite --


MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  Yes, it's not --


MR. VELLONE:  You are skipping to the conclusion, but you can do it, right?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  Just --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Right.  So --


MR. VELLONE:  I think Ms. Djurdjevic just wants to see the result, and we can move on.

I'm trying to keep this moving, if you're okay with that.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Do we have that undertaking?  J --


MR. VELLONE:  I'm sympathetic, so I think we're -- yeah, please go ahead.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be J2.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.6:  TO UPDATE TABLE 15 TO ACCOUNT FOR DER PENETRATION.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And I am probably finished.

I might just ask for a couple minutes to review my notes and just check with Staff if I've covered everything that they wanted addressed.

MS. DUFF:  That's acceptable.  Why don't we break for ten minutes.  Will that give you enough time?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Definitely, yup, thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  We'll break until 4:30.  That will also give the panel an opportunity to discuss if we have any questions.

Before we break, Mr. Vellone, you put your camera on?  Okay.  Just --


MR. VELLONE:  Just to respond to that undertaking request, that's all.

MS. DUFF:  All right.  Thank you very much.  Okay.  We'll get together again at 4:30.
--- Recess taken at 4:21 p.m.
--- Upon resuming at 4:32 p.m.


MS. DUFF:  Ms. Djurdjevic, after reviewing your notes, do you have any more questions of this panel?

MS. DJURDEVIC:  Thank you, Commissioner Duff.  I do not.  The Staff is finished our questions, thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Great.  I think Commissioner Zlahtic had a few questions.  Do you want to go first?
Questions by the Board:


MR. ZLAHTIC:  Hi.  Good afternoon, panel.  Does Elexicon, across the Whitby Hydro and Veridian service areas, currently have a means in place to track the number of homes with EV chargers and rooftop solar, or a combination of rooftop solar and batteries, installed?

MR. VETSIS:  Not at this time.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  Okay.  What are your plans to rectify that?

MR. VETSIS:  It is something that we are looking into at the moment, Mr. Zlahtic.  It might be an element of our DER enablement program when we are prepared to come forward with that.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  Okay.  Then I guess the other question is, you know, there are probably DER installations already in the Elexicon service areas, being Whitby and Veridian.  Are there currently DERs in place that have bidirectional meters and are you able to track their usage and the impact that solar has on the amount of power they're taking from the grid or putting back into the grid?

MR. BOUDHAR:  Yes, we track some of the DERs that we have on our system.  We have that data.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  Okay, thank you.

MS. DUFF:  I have a few questions.  Following up, actually, on cross-examination with Ms. Girvan for CCC today, she was talking about the residential homeowners and the Volt-VAR savings, the 3 percent of energy savings.  Could you please quantify to what a 3 percent, given current cost of power -- what a 3 percent savings would be for a typical residential customer?  And I think we used 750 kilowatt-hours.  So, if you could use, perhaps, some 2023 dollars at your rates that are currently in place, in a typical home, what would that mean in terms of savings for them today?

MR. VETSIS:  Chairperson Duff, can we take a look at that one taking to see if that gives it?  Because I believe the cost of power is actually one of the lines there.  So if you could just give me one moment to grab you a reference.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  And I apologize if it is already on the record.

MR. VETSIS:  It's not a small record.  Could we go to JT2.6.  And, when we take a look here, in terms of the different elements of the bill, if you go down, scroll a little bit, you will see it TOU off-peak, TOU mid-peak, and TOU on-peak.  And you can see here the value of the 3 percent reduction.

MS. DUFF:  Could you --


MR. VETSIS:  [inaudible]


MS. DUFF:  -- say that out loud, then?  Is this a monthly basis, an annual basis?

MR. VETSIS:  Yes, this is a monthly bill for a typical residential customer.  And so I'm just going to be adding here on the fly, so apologies.  We have the $1.07 plus 41 cents, so that's $1.48.  Plus the 61 -- and I'm going to embarrass myself right now -- so basically the $2.09.

MS. DUFF:  No, I appreciate --


MR. VETSIS:  I've embarrassed myself now.  I'm not the CFO, so...

MS. DUFF:  You noticed I asked you to do it, rather than doing it myself.  Now that we have those numbers, could you tell me how much --


MR. VETSIS:  Sorry, Ms. Duff.  Just the one element not to forget is that, if you just go up a little bit, just under subtotal A is a line, losses on the cost of power.  There is an additional 9 cents there that should be included in the addition.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, okay.  And how much would the cost of power actually have to go down where your net benefits equal zero?  Could you calculate that?  Is that something that you could undertake.  So, if cost of power has gone down, which is why you updated your evidence in April -- the last update was because the cost of power had gone down since you first did your estimate.  So how much would the cost of power have to go down to have a net benefit of zero?

MR. VETSIS:  I think that's something we'd have to take away.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.

MR. MANDYAM:  Commissioner Duff, I believe cost of power went up in our --


[Reporter appeals]


MR. MANDYAM:  Commissioner Duff, cost of power went up.  When we [audio dropout] in our undertaking JT1.21, which has the benefits calculation, the cost of power actually went up.  And we used the 2022 end-of-year value and in our original pre-filed it was --


[Reporter appeals]


MR. MANDYAM:  Anyway, the point being, Ms. Duff, that the cost power -- we used cost of power and estimates at the send of -- unaudited value at the end of 2022 and in model JT1.21, which is highlighted in our pre-filed evidence.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.

MR. MANDYAM:  Just a small point of clarification.

MS. DUFF:  I actually think I've confused it with the PUC record.  Then, further in the [audio dropout] estimate for the Whitby SmartGrid and the range of -- costs could range from a minus 30 to plus 50 percent.  Do you remember that conversation that you had with her?

MR. THOMPSON:  I'm sorry, Ms. Duff, when you are not facing the camera, I can't tell what you're saying.

MS. DUFF:  You know, you are not the first person to tell me that.  I apologize.  I don't know, in this virtual world, why my microphone seems sensitive to that.  I'm sorry.  I'll try to focus and stay clear with my head forward.

I was looking at the sensitivity.  Given that we have a class  4 estimate in front of us for costs for the Whitby SmartGrid, would you please calculate a sensitivity analysis at both end of the range, if the costs are minus 30 or if the costs are plus 50?  Could you do that?

MR. VETSIS:  Sure.  And we're just talking, like, a total cost table that shows, in the middle, what we proposed at the bottom and top end, just costs?

MS. DUFF:  Yes.  I'm looking for a sensitivity analysis, given we're working for a class 4 estimate, two years in advance.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  Excuse me, Commissioner Duff.  I'm sorry for interjecting.  I just want to be clear, again, what you're asking for.  Are you talking about the customer annual benefit summary?  It was updated table 1 in your evidence that was filed this past Monday.  You know, it was the table that showed the annual net benefit to Whitby SmartGrid customers of $433,000 per annum.  Is that what you want updated, Commissioner Duff?

MS. DUFF:  There's a sensitivity analysis to that, to find out when the net benefit is equal to zero.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  I thought that's where you were going.  I'm sorry.

MS. DUFF:  Are and this would be a second question.  No, that's --


MR. ZLAHTIC:  I apologize if I'm confusing things.

MS. DUFF:  And the other one is based on the class 4 cost estimate sensitivity range.  So there are two different questions, I think.  If I've garbled this in some way that is not clear to the witnesses, please ask me now.

MR. ZLAHTIC:  I think I may have.

MR. MANDYAM:  The first undertaking was around cost of power being calculated, to determine what value of cost of power would drive a net benefit of zero.  That was the first one.  And then the second one is:  Give the bookends on a class 4 estimate for the cost of the project, of the Whitby SmartGrid project, minus 30 percent plus 50 percent, our proposal in the middle.

MS. DUFF:  Correct.  Could we have --


MS. DJURDEVIC:  Yes.  So, the first undertaking is J2.6.  That's regarding the cost of power net benefit.  And the second one will be J2.7.  That's the bookends on class 4 estimates.

MR. VETSIS:  I'm sorry, Ms. Djurdjevic.  I'm a little confused as to the numbering, because I'm pretty sure you just gave J 2.6 for the DER penetration table.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  You know, I --


MR. VETSIS:  And I was under the impression -- from a numbering perspective, I think there might be a few overlaps.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  All right.  Yeah, I think you're right, and that's the hazard of marking undertakings while doing a cross-examination.

So J2.7, as I have it now, will be Commissioner Duff's question regarding cost of power net benefit, and J2.8 will be the undertaking regarding bookends on class 4 estimate.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.7:  TO RESPOND TO COMMISSIONER DUFF'S QUETSION REGARDING COST OF POWER NET BENEFIT.

UNDERTAKING NO. j2.8:  RESPOND TO COMMISSIONER DUFF'S QUETSION REGARDING BOOKENDS ON CLASS 4 ESTIMATE.

If there were other undertakings we missed through during my cross-examination, hopefully they will have been picked up by the reporter on the transcript, but we will have a chance to review the transcript and make note of any undertakings that may not have been identified as such by me.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  There is one orphan idea that I need you to help me with, okay?

Now, this was SEC's cross-examination, and for the life of me I tried in the last ten minutes to pull up the cross-examination.

It was the cost of an outage, and it was the LBNL study.  It was page 3 of 3.  And Mr. Shepherd was comparing -- there was a 22,737 cost, if you were a medium or a large customer, in that table.

If Mr. Ott could pull up that table I would be really impressed.

MR. MANDYAM:  That's VECC 2.  Interrogatory VECC 2.

UNIDENTITIFED SPEAKER:  Mr. Shepherd had it.  There it is.  It's the version with OPNL.

MS. DUFF:  That's great.  Thank you.

Could you please explain to me what the $6.50 is and how I should consider that?  I can read the table, it's a cost per customer for a 60-minute outage, but for -- I'm trying to put that into context in terms of the benefit to the actual customer, perhaps on an annualized basis, based on probabilities.

I mean, how should I consider that $6.50 in the context of your ask for this ICM funding?

MR. THOMPSON:  Commissioner Duff, there is a number of formulations to consider customer cost of outages, and we have used this one, so there are alternatives.

So we're focusing in on this specific one, and in this specific analysis the assessment is that for every hour a residential customer was without power over a year, their cost is $6.50.

There's a bunch of ways that number gets arrived at:  Willingness to pay and different things come into the formulas.  But if you compare it, for instance, to a large CNI, their costs are much, much higher for an hour outage, because they would have employees standing around or damaged processes, et cetera.

The actual cost to a residential customer is fairly low for a one-hour outage.

MS. DUFF:  And when you calculated the net benefits associated with outage -- it wasn't frequency, it was the duration of the outage it was going to be reduced -- did you or did you not look at Whitby's customer base and the proportion of how many are in the medium and large, greater than 50,000, small, and residential in order to calculate the benefits?  That was the part of the cross-examination I didn't understand.

MR. VETSIS:  So I believe the calculation you are describing is table 3 below.

That's multiplying out those particular impacts by class versus the number of customers in those groupings within our service territory.

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Commissioner Duff, to the extent it helps, I got confused by this as well.

There is a dollar sign in front of the number of customers, but I think that is the amount of customers, not a dollar amount.  Is that correct, Mr. Vetsis?

MR. VETSIS:  That's correct.  And I believe we did have and undertaking, actually, to fix the units that came out of the technical conference.

I think -- let's try J1.2.  Brandon is great at this.  Thank you, Mr. Ott.

MS. DUFF:  Could somebody walk me through this table, please, for residential customers?  And where I'm going with this is I definitely know based on the cost allocation that you proposed how much each customer would be paying in your illustrative rate riders, and I am trying to box in the benefits to those customers and find out the value per customer, because I definitely know the rate rider cost.

That's what I'm looking to try to create an association, the cost of the benefits.

MR. MANDYAM:  So Commissioner Duff, it is left to right on the table that's before you, updated table 3.

For the residential we've used that $6.50 savings per outage, cost per outage, that could be avoided.

We've escalated that using GDP-IPI from Statistics Canada.  I think it turns out to be an inflation value of 112, 1.12.

We took the SAIDI rate reductions that were forecasted by METSCO's technical assessment, and we derived the $4.20 of cost per that particular amount of SAIDI reductions.

We multiplied that by -- I think this is the 2021 end-of-year customer base reported for Whitby.  It's not 2020, at least 2021, number of customers for Whitby.  That gets you the 183,970 benefit [audio dropout].

MS. DUFF:  So is it appropriate for me to add -- I guess it's the cost per customer for outage.

Am I adding the $4.20 per customer to the numbers Mr. Vetsis just added up in his head regarding the voltage variance benefit?  Is there anything else that I should be considering in terms of the benefit per customer, residential?

MR. VELLONE:  Is this an annual table or a monthly table, guys?

MR. VETSIS:  I believe it's annual.

MS. DUFF:  I just -- and again, I -- okay.  Fair enough.  So other than those two numbers that I pointed you to in the evidence, have I missed anything else associated with the Whitby SmartGrid project and the benefit to a residential customer?

MR. MANDYAM:  I'd say hate to say no, that's it, and then walk away without, you know, feeling like I missed something, so could we just take an undertaking, Commissioner Duff, to --

MS. DUFF:  Excellent suggestion.  And you may want to, like -- and I know that Mr. Vetsis did those numbers off the top of his head.  He may want --

MR. MANDYAM:  We'll validate Mr. Vetsis' math.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  The other -- sorry?

MR. MANDYAM:  I need to make that an undertaking.

MS. DUFF:  Yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  J2.9.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.9:  TO CONFIRM CALCULATIONS FOR NET BENEFITS FOR RESIDENTIAL CUSTOMERS IN TABLE 3, AS CALCULATED BY MR. VETSIS.


MS. DUFF:  That's great.  Thank you.  And I have one more question.

In looking at these benefits and costs, I mean, I understand it is your proposal in your illustrative rate riders that you are going to follow the cost allocation of just revenue-requirement allocation.  That was leading to a 30 percent increase for residential customers; is that correct?

MR. VETSIS:  That's correct.

MS. DUFF:  And then I also heard you say, you know, we'd be open to other suggestion.  Why didn't you propose it?  Why didn't you propose something where it was a better matching of the benefits?  I mean, I know it's an exception, but we also -- you've asked for exceptions to your Distribution System Code.

MR. VETSIS:  I think, you know, I think the -- we've done our best to quantify the benefits where we can, Ms. Duff, but the fact is that there are some other benefits to having the Whitby SmartGrid which we haven't been able to quantify, and I think when we think about the overall service that we provide to our customers, this will be one of the -- one of those elements, and ultimately using the revenue requirement from a cost recovery's perspective kind of aligns the recovery of costs for these assets with sort of the broader costs that we have.

And, I mean, there is probably other assets, other specific examples, if you dug down for each individual item, but at the end of the day cost allocation itself is not -- it's not a science, it is more of an art, and I think the approach that the OEB has is tried and tested, and I think when you take a look at it within the context of our overall costs and our overall cost recovery, I do think there is some rationale for the way it's being proposed within this application.

MS. DUFF:  Because at the end of the day you are going to have to explain this to the customers why their rates are going up 30 percent, and theoretical voltage savings, I don't know that -- if they don't see it on their bill or have a communication knowing, how much am I saving, I wonder about the challenge of -- so we have the undertaking and I want to see your answer to that.

And then we'll look at -- I guess, the cost allocation and the rate design is -- your proposal is clear, of what you've put in your application of what you want to put into the illustrative rate riders that you are looking for approval.  We'll take all of that information into consideration.

MR. VETSIS:  I'll say -- for what it's worth, Ms. Duff, I mean, this is our proposal in this proceeding.  To the extent that that's something that the OEB would want us to explore at the time that rates are finalized, that's something that we would be open to if that's a proposal of the Board's.

MS. DUFF:  Those are all of my questions.  Any follow-up from Mr. Janigan or Zlahtic?  Seeing none, Mr. Vellone, did you have any re-direct for this panel?

Re-Examination by Mr. Vellone:


MR. VELLONE:  I do Commissioner Duff.  I believe, at the beginning of Day 1, there was an exchange that related to the original draft rate order that was filed in response to JT 1.13 and there was a question about how that was going to be updated to reflect the new Brooklin line in-service date.  And we'd agreed to get it marked as an undertaking, but I don't think that was actually done when I reviewed the transcript, so I would ask that to be marked now.

MS. DJURDEVIC:  We will make JT .10.  I don't think I can go back and change the numbers from....
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.10:  TO EXPLAIN HOW THE DRAFT RATE ORDER WAS GOING TO BE UPDATED TO REFLECT THE NEW BROOKLIN LINE IN-SERVICE DATE.


MR. VELLONE:  That's fine.  I tried to be explicit on what it was so that you could do that.

Mr. Thompson, I'd like to follow up with you on an exchange you had with Mr. Ladanyi this morning.  And, in Mr. Ladanyi's defence, I think he was doing his best to keep to his shortened time frame, so he sped up a little bit of his cross, but I think something got missed in a portion of that exercise.

Mr. Thompson, you will recall an exchange with Mr. Ladanyi where he was attempting to understand from you Elexicon's ability to control or manage solar installations on your system.  And, where that exchange ended off, I believe, was an assertion by Mr. Ladanyi, without a question attached, which was that distributed energy resource management systems, or DERMS, are completely useless for managing solar panels when you don't have batteries.  And I just wanted to put that assertion to you, to ask if you agree.

MR. THOMPSON:  No.  I would disagree with that.  And I remember the exchange, and the moment moved on, so I appreciate the opportunity to discuss it.

A solar panel is a resource that cannot be turned on unless the sun is shining and unless it's generating, but it can be turned off.  And you can manage your system if there's too much -- it is very possible to have too much solar generating at 11:00 in the morning when the sun is at its highest, or almost highest, and residential loads are relatively low.  So the DERMS system would continue to have application even absent the battery system.  It would just not -- it would not be a dispatch on-facility.  It would be dispatch off-facility.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Thompson.  My third question in redirect is for you, Mr. Vetsis, and it relates to an exchange you had with Mr. Rosenbluth related to EV rough-ins where, as part of that exchange, he asked you: Does the demand go up?  Is that fair?  And, in response, you said yes.  Do you recall that exchange?

MR. VETSIS:  If I'm being honest, no, Mr. Vellone.  It's been a long day.

MR. VELLONE:  Fair.  What I'm concerned about is that Mr. Rosenbluth may have been asking about peak system demand.  And the reason I'm concerned about that is because he had Appendix B4 in front of him, and you may have been responding about instantaneous demand.  And I just want a witness to explore the difference between those concepts and what the impacts might be on the response given to Mr. Rosenbluth.

MR. VETSIS:  Perhaps I'll take a first stab as a non-engineer and then let my peers correct me.  But, ultimately, when we look at charging in particular, a key element -- the peak in the system is what it is that we plan for and determines the constraints of our assets.  You know, while EV charging may increase overall consumption, the only way it impacts our peak is based on its actual timing.  So, to the extent that customers are changing at the time of peak, whether it's midday, you know, that would impact -- would increase demand.  Otherwise, if they are charging at off-peak periods, that would not have an impact on the peak of our system.  Please go ahead, Mr. Sturmey, if you have anything to add.

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  Thank you.  In the context of the load forecast report and peak demand on the system, an electric vehicle really looks like a battery, so could you have charging or discharging.  If the charging is occurring coincident with the peak of the system, then that's going to increase the peak.  If that charging is occurring off-peak, then you have no impacts.

And, in fact, I don't know if we want to go and pull it up, but Exhibit K2.3 shows some different scenarios for installing charging infrastructure at residential subdivisions and it shows that the impact could be some number or it could be zero.  Yes, that's the one.  So Appendix A of this report.  Maybe I got the exhibit wrong.  It is the green report.  Is that not 2.3?  That would be the electric vehicle charging infrastructure costing study.  That's the one.

So, if you go to Appendix A of the report, on the first page of Appendix A, what it shows here are archetypes 3 and 4, townhouses.  Archetype 4, single family detached home, based on kilowatts.  So that's the -- what the peak demand impact of that subdivision would be.  And then we see different scenarios of how the EV charging infrastructure impacts peak demand.

So we didn't produce this report ourselves, but you can see the difference there; C1, C2, C3.  C1 impact peak demand, and C2 and C3, when you are controlling the EV charging, there is no impact to peak demand of a subdivision and you have the same total kilowatts in spite of having EV charging installed.

And then the final point is, if you are -- in the case that you are leveraging the electric vehicle as a battery that can discharge into the grid, then it is actually possible to reduce the peak.  That's what I was trying to get across with Mr. Rosenbluth this morning.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you very much.  And my final question, Commissioner Duff.  Earlier today, Ms. Djurdjevic brought you to tab 7 of Staff's compendium, which was an updated version of a net present value comparison spreadsheet.  And, in response to her questioning, you noted several errors in that spreadsheet.  And I thought it might be helpful, by way undertaking, for Elexicon to fix those errors and file an updated version of that spreadsheet.  Would that be helpful, Ms. Djurdjevic, so you can actually see what the changes are?

MS. DJURDEVIC:  Well, we will give that undertaking number JT .11 and leave it to argument as to what is a correction or incorrect inputs.  But we'll leave that for your undertaking.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.11:  TO FILE AN UPDATED VERSION OF THE NET PRESENT VALUE COMPARISON SPREADSHEET AT TAB 7 OF STAFF'S COMPENDIUM.


MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  That's all my re-direct, Commissioner Duff.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, thank you very much.  This witness panel appreciate it.  You are excused.
Procedural Matters:


I just want to go over the remaining scheduled procedural events for this hearing.  Argument is scheduled for April 18th.  OEB Staff and intervenor [audio dropout]


[Reporter appeals]


MS. DUFF:  Oh, I keep on moving my head.  It's a terrible habit.  Okay.  I'll start again.

Procedural Order No. 5 set out the remaining procedural steps for the proceeding, which are April the 8th, argument in-chief; May the 4th, submissions from OEB Staff and intervenors; and then reply submission is due on May the 18th.

In that regard, the Panel is looking to -- we'll meet next week and -- or probably tomorrow and try to figure out, if there's a decision structure, provide some guidance for structure regarding topics to be addressed in submission.

There is no issues list associated with this proceeding, so it makes it a little more difficult and challenging, and also I think the issues have evolved through the proceeding.

So we will provide some guidance to all parties regarding a -- subheadings in which to organize your written submissions.

I'm not going to promise a date, though, because I really don't know how long that is going to take.

But I hope to get that to you [audio dropout]


[Reporter appeals]

MR. MANDYAM:  We didn't hear your last bit, Commissioner Duff, about the date.

You held yourself accountable.

MS. DUFF:  Yeah, no, I wasn't holding myself accountable at all, actually.  I said I was going to do my best so that it wouldn't jeopardize argument in-chief on April the 18th.

Okay.  So this concludes the oral phase of this proceeding.

MR. VETSIS:  Thank you.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Commissioners.  Thank you, parties.
--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 5:05 p.m.
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